
 

Education & Children's Services Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 

 
Monday 18 January 2016 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

 
 

Membership 
 

Reserves 
 

Councillor Jasmine Ali (Chair) 
Councillor Lisa Rajan (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Sunny Lambe 
Councillor James Okosun 
Councillor Sandra Rhule 
Councillor Charlie Smith 
Councillor Kath Whittam 
Kay Beckwith 
Martin Brecknell 
Lynette Murphy-O'Dwyer 
Abdul Raheem Musa 
George Ogbonna 
 

Councillor James Barber 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Renata Hamvas 
Councillor Sarah King 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
 

 
 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

Access to information You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and 
reports on this agenda as well as the background documents used in the preparation of 
these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances If you are a resident of the borough and have paid 
someone to look after your children, an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities 
so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  
Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on 
building access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s 
web site: www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact Julie Timbrell on 020 7525 0514  or email: julie.timbrell@southwark.gov.uk   
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
Eleanor Kelly 
Chief Executive 
Date: 8 January 2016 
 

 

Open Agenda



 

Education & Children's Services Scrutiny Sub-
Committee 

 
Monday 18 January 2016 

7.00 pm 
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

 
 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

 

1. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting. 
 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any interests and dispensations in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

4. MINUTES 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting held on 16 December 2015. Minutes are to follow.  
 

 

5. INTERVIEW OF THE INDEPENDENT CHAIR OF SOUTHWARK 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN'S BOARD, ANNUAL REPORT & 
SERIOUS CASE REVIEW 

 

1 - 59 

  
The cover report, Serious Case Review (SCR) and the Southwark 
Safeguarding Children's Board’s (SSCB) response to the SCR are 
attached. The Southwark Safeguarding Children's Board Annual 
Safeguarding report is to follow.  
 
 
 
 

 

6. YOUTH SERVICE BUDGET 
 

60 - 63 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

 The background paper attached is an extract (Appendix B – 
supporting narrative for budget proposals Children’s and adults 
services) of the published 8 December 2015 cabinet paper: Policy 
and Resources Strategy 2016/17 to 2018/19: Update for Spending 
Review and Initial Savings Proposals.  
 
This item will be considered as part of the formal cabinet 
consultation with scrutiny on budget proposals, with the next stage 
being OSC‘s full day meeting on the budget scheduled for 2nd 
February, in line with the request by the vice chair at the previous 
meeting, and as part of the work-plan item on the ‘Youth Offer’. 
 

 

7. YOUNG PEOPLE'S VOICE 
 

 

  
Open space for Youth Forums, with comment on demise of Kids Company 
by SGTO youth forum.  
 

 

8. VOLUNTARY & COMMUNITY GROUPS WORKING WITH YOUNG 
PEOPLE 

 

 

 Voluntary & Community groups working with young people  
 
Round table discussing :  
 
- Young people flying under the radar / without status  
 
- Demise of Kids Company and alternative provision 
 
- How can the council & voluntary sector best work together given 
on-going reductions  to local authority budgets &  services 
 

 

9. FGM REVIEW 
 

 

 Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) interim report is to follow 
 

 

10. WORK PLAN 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING. 
 

 

  
 
 
 



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 December 2015 

Meeting Name: 
Education and Children’s 
Services Scrutiny Sub-
Committee 

Report title: Serious Case Review – Child R 
Wards or groups affected: All 

 
From: Rory Patterson Director Children’s Social Care 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. The committee is requested to:  

 
a) Note the Serious Case Review Report at appendix 1. 

 
b) Comment on the key learning points from the Review at paragraph 10; 

their relevance for Health and Wellbeing Board member organisations; and 
the action that could be taken across the health and social care system to 
address them. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
  
2. In March 2014 the Safeguarding Board considered a serious incident affecting a 

young person, Child R, and decided to undertake a Serious Case Review (SCR). 
 

3. This is the first SCR in Southwark for five years and the first informed by Working 
Together to safeguard Children 2013/15 and the new requirements in relation to 
SCR placed upon Safeguarding Children Boards. 
 

4. The Serious Case Review took place between April 2014 and February 2015 
when it was signed off by the SSCB subject to further anonymisation of the 
child’s circumstances.  Following careful consideration by the review panel, a 
police colleague and council lawyer to ensure it protects Child R’s identity, the 
SCR report was published in August 2015. 
 

5. Child R is a 15 year old girl who came into care aged 10 and has been looked 
after by the London Borough of Southwark for the past five years.  Currently she 
lives with foster carers in Greater London and attends school locally. 
 

6. In early spring 2014, R was invited to meet an older, predatory male at a hotel, 
where he allegedly raped her.  The alleged assault was reported by R to her 
carers the same day and police action was taken to find and arrest the man.  A 
criminal investigation and court process have concluded, in which the perpetrator 
was found guilty of a separate, lesser sexual offence against another young 
person. 

7. This incident initiated the SCR. It was agreed to use the Welsh Governments 
Guidance for arrangements for multi agency child practice reviews as a 
methodology.  This guidance complies with Working Together as it is systems 

1
Agenda Item 5



 

 
 
 

2 

  

based and offers a collaborative approach with agencies to surface the key 
themes and issues to develop an action plan to take forward the learning points 
arising in the case.  The methodology included senior managers comprising a 
review panel considering agency chronologies and summaries, a learning event 
bringing together staff and managers involved across the partnership to consider 
the themes and issues emerging and informing the learning points. 

 
8. The report has been shared at a number of events led by the SSCB, to take the 

learning to different parts of the borough and ensure that as many staff and 
volunteers are able to consider the messages of the report for their agency and 
their own practice. 

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
9. The key points of learning from the Serious Case Review of Child R’s 

case can be summarised as follows: 
 
1. Knowledge of a child’s psycho-social history is essential for effective 

assessments and planning for children. 
 

2. In any agency, high turnover and sickness among workers and managers in 
a team carry the risk of loss of knowledge about cases and potential failure to 
carry out statutory duties.   

 
3. Many looked-after adolescents find it hard to trust and communicate with 

professionals who are tasked with planning for them, and helping to keep 
them safe – especially when their key worker changes frequently.   This can 
significantly constrain the ability of workers (and the local authority, as 
‘corporate parents’) to respond to the young person’s wishes and feelings, 
and to meet their needs. 

 
4. Effective care planning for looked-after children requires input from all 

partners in the form of either attendance or appropriate reports for the LAC 
Review process. However, LAC Reviews, as smaller, child-centred meetings, 
do not provide a suitable forum for the full professional network of those who 
know about and are working with the child.  Thus, there may be no regular 
opportunity for this network to share significant information and concerns. 

 
5. In addition, the LA needs to ensure that foster carers and the professional 

network are given full and good information about the determined needs of 
the child and the current plans, as well as relevant history.  These actions 
can become more difficult for children placed out of borough. 

 
6. Partners in safeguarding networks continue to struggle with the timing and 

appropriate use of escalation procedures, often leaving unsatisfactory 
situations going on for too long. 

 
7. The choice, and timing, of local authority placements available for looked-

after children does not always allow a matching of the child’s needs to the 
ability of the carers, especially for more complex and ‘hard to place’ 
adolescents. 

 
8. Children and families cases will inevitably transfer to a number of different 

2



 

 
 
 

3 

  

social workers and managers over time.  For their work to be effective, case 
records need to include a genogram, an up-to-date chronology and a transfer 
summary.   

 
9. The systems for sharing and transferring information about a looked-after 

child who moves schools do not always operate in a transparent and timely 
way.   

 
10. Children missing from care are at greater risk of sexual exploitation, not only 

because of being outside of (corporate) parental control, but also because of 
the power and reach of social media. 

 
11. There are potential tensions between Police and Children’s Social Care, 

regarding their respective roles and responsibilities in relation to a looked-
after child at high risk of harm.  This can result, as in this case, in an impasse 
and an outcome which is not appropriate for the child, even in the short-term. 

 
12. The power and lure of electronic social media carry a risk of harm, 

particularly to vulnerable young people, which cannot be removed by 
professionals working with these young people.   

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Working together to safeguard 
children: A guide to interagency 
working to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children 

https://www.gov.uk/gover
nment/publications/workin
g-together-to-safeguard-
children 

SSCB@southwark.
gov.uk 

Protecting children in Wales: 
Guidance for arrangements for multi 
agency child practice reviews 

http://www.nspcc.org.uk/
preventing-abuse/child-
protection-
system/wales/child-
practice-reviews/ 

SSCB@southwark.
gov.uk 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Serious Case Review Report – Child R 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
 

Lead Officer David Quirke-Thornton, Vice-Chair, Southwark Safeguarding 
Children Board 

Report Author Rachel Flagg Principal Strategy Officer 
Version  

3



 

 
 
 

4 

  

Dated December 2015 
Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Director of Legal Services No No 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

No No 

List other officers here   
 

4



 

 

 

 

    SOUTHWARK SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN  

                                  BOARD 

 

 

Serious Case Review Report 

Child R 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Author: 

Sally Trench 

Independent Lead Reviewer 

 

 

 
 
 

5



2 

 

CONTENTS 

 
 
1. Circumstances that led to this Serious Case Review 4 

2. Terms of Reference and the Welsh Model 4 

3. Family History 9 

4. The Review Period (February 2012 to April 2014) 11 

5. Practice and Organisational Learning 13 

A. Ascertain whether previous relevant information or history about 

the child and/or family members was known and taken into 

account in professionals’ assessment, planning and decision-

making in respect of the child, the family and their circumstances.  

Establish how that knowledge contributed to the outcome for the 

child. 

13 

B. Evaluate whether the care plan was robust, and appropriate for 

R, the family and their circumstances 

18 

C. Ascertain whether the plan was effectively implemented, 

monitored and reviewed and whether all agencies contributed 

appropriately to the development and delivery of the multi-

agency plan  

18 

D. Identify the aspects of the care plan that worked well and those 

that did not work well and why. Identify the degree to which 

agencies challenged each other regarding the effectiveness of the 

care plan, including progress against agreed outcomes for the 

child. And whether any protocol for professional disagreement 

was invoked 

18 

E.  Establish whether the respective statutory duties of agencies 

working with the child and family were fulfilled 

27 

F.  Identify whether there were obstacles or difficulties in this case 

that prevented agencies from fulfilling their duties (this should 

include consideration of both organisational issues and other 

contextual issues) 

27 

G. How well did professionals understand and manage the different 

risk factors influencing this case and the particular vulnerabilities 

of R, during the two years under review? 

31 

H. Review of the application and use of children missing from home 

and care protocol 

31 

I. How well did professionals hear the voice of the child in their 

work with R?  And to what extent were her unique diversity 

needs met by services? 

38 

J. Review of the application and use of the e-safety policy in this 

case 

40 

6



3 

 

 References  44 

 Glossary 45 

 Appendix 1: Terms of Reference 
46 

 Appendix 2: Genogram   
51 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7



4 

 

1. Circumstances that led to this Serious Case Review  

 
1.1 R is a 15-year old girl, who came into care aged 10, and has been looked after by 

the London Borough of Southwark for the past 4 ½ years.  She lives with foster 

carers in Greater London and attends school locally. 

 

In early spring 2014, R was invited to meet an older, predatory male at a hotel, 

where he allegedly raped her.  The antecedents of this meeting remain 

uncertain, but R said that a friend of hers had given the man her telephone 

number, so that he could contact her.  

 

The alleged assault was reported by R to her carers the same day, and police 

action was taken to find and arrest the man.  A criminal investigation and court 

process have now concluded, in which the perpetrator was found guilty of a 

separate, lesser sexual offence against another young person.  The offence of 

rape against R remains untried, but is held on the man’s records as a not-guilty 

plea.   

 

1.2 Southwark Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) decided to undertake a Serious 

Case Review (SCR), as the following criteria had been met: 

 

(a) abuse or neglect of a child is known or suspected; and  

(b) (ii) the child has been seriously harmed and there is cause for concern as to 

the way in which the authority, their Board partners or other relevant persons 

have worked together to safeguard the child.
1
 

 
 

2.  Terms of Reference and the Welsh Model  

 
2.1 The SSCB drew up its terms of reference for this SCR in April 2014, and circulated 

them to the DfE and Board agencies.  They outline the model and process to be 

used for the SCR, the agencies involved, the learning areas to be addressed, and 

expectations about completion and publication of the report.    

 

(The full terms of reference are attached as Appendix 1.) 

 

2.2  The Welsh Model for case reviews 

 

2.2.1 The ‘Welsh Model’ refers to Welsh Government guidance for multi-agency 

‘child practice reviews in circumstances of a significant incident where abuse or 

neglect of a child is known or suspected’.
2
   

                                                 
1
 Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2013, and Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations, 

2006 (Regulation 5) 

 
2
 Protecting Children in Wales – Guidance for Arrangements for Multi-Agency Child Practice Reviews, 

The Welsh Government, January 2013  

8



5 

 

It is intended to be used in conjunction with Working Together, 2013.  The model 

can be used for all levels of case reviews, including SCRs.   

 

 The emphasis is on promoting ‘a positive culture of multi-agency child protection 

learning and reviewing in local areas, for which LSCBs and partner agencies hold 

responsibility’.
3
   

 

2.2.2 In a shift from the approach in traditional ‘Part 8’ SCRs, this model focuses on 

the involvement of agencies, staff and families ‘in a collective endeavour to 

reflect and learn from what has happened in order to improve practice in the 

future, with a focus on accountability and not on culpability’.
4
  Other key features 

include: 

 

• A more focused, streamlined process with a shorter time period to be 

reviewed 

• Consideration of the context in which professionals work in agencies, 

including ‘culture’, policies and procedures, and resources 

• A Learning Event for all those involved in the case  

• Exploring not only what has happened, but why 

• Recommendations and actions to improve future practice 

 

2.3 Individual Management Reviews  

 

2.3.1 The SSCB requested Individual Management Reviews (IMRs) for this SCR, as 

well as a comprehensive multi-agency chronology.  Both of these are features of 

the ‘Part 8’ methodology under the previous Working Together (2010).  As a 

consequence, this SCR is a ‘hybrid’ of two models for case reviews.    

 

The IMRs have produced extensive data from agency records about their 

activities in the two-year review period.  The IMR authors, who are independent 

of management responsibility for this case, have also interviewed staff, with a 

particular emphasis on avoiding hindsight, instead trying to get a feeling for 

what it was like working with the young person at the time, and what was the 

context for their work. 

 

The scope and quality of the data have resulted in a longer Overview Report 

than would normally be the case for a Welsh Model review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
3
 Ibid, Para 1.3 

4
 Ibid, Para 1.4  

9



6 

 

2.4 Time frame for review 

 

The Welsh guidance recommends a review period of no longer than two years.  

This is so that the learning is about recent, rather than historical, practice, 

procedures and agency circumstances.  In this case, the time span chosen was 

just over two years:  

 

1
st

 February 2012 to 27
th

 March 2014  

 

This allowed the SCR to include an ‘unsettled’ period of placement disruptions, as 

well as the two subsequent longer and more stable foster placements.  The end 

point of the review, just after the alleged sexual assault, was extended briefly to 

include initial agency actions in response to the incident.    

 

     A Summary Timeline of significant events was made. 

 

2.5 Practice and organisational learning areas  

 

2.5.1 The Welsh guidance offers a set of generic practice areas for exploration and 

analysis, and these have been adopted by the Board for this review: 

 

• Ascertain whether previous relevant information or history about the child 

and/or family members was known and taken into account in professionals' 

assessment, planning and decision-making in respect of the child, the family 

and their circumstances.  Establish how that knowledge contributed to the 

outcome for the child; 

• Evaluate whether the care plan was robust, and appropriate for R, the family 

and their circumstances; 

• Ascertain whether the plan was effectively implemented, monitored and 

reviewed and whether all agencies contributed appropriately to the 

development and delivery of the multi-agency plan; 

• Identify the aspects of the care plan that worked well and those that did not 

work well and why. Identify the degree to which agencies challenged each 

other regarding the effectiveness of the care plan, including progress against 

agreed outcomes for the child. And whether any  protocol for professional 

disagreement was invoked; 

• Establish whether the respective statutory duties of agencies working with 

the child and family were fulfilled; 

• Identify whether there were obstacles or difficulties in this case that 

prevented agencies from fulfilling their duties (this should include 

consideration of both organisational issues and other contextual issues).
5
 

 

 

 

                                                 
5
 Ibid, Para 6.15  

10



7 

 

2.5.2 Further relevant questions were identified by the SSCB in relation to the 

individual case:  

• How well did professionals understand and manage the different risk factors 

influencing this case and the particular vulnerabilities of R, during the two 

years under review? 

• How well did professionals hear the voice of the child in their work with R?  

And to what extent were her unique diversity needs met by services? 

• Review of the application and use of children missing from home and care 

protocol and e-safety policy in this case. 

 

2.6 Lead Reviewers 

 

2.6.1 There are two external Lead Reviewers for this SCR, both independent of 

Southwark.  Sally Trench has a background in local authority mental health social 

work and children’s social care, principally child protection.  She is the author of 

many Serious Case Reviews, and has also chaired SCR Panels.  She has been 

trained in traditional ‘Part 8’ SCRs and in the Social Care Institute for Excellence 

systems model ‘Learning Together’. 

 

Victoria Philipson has a background in local authority children and families social 

work, also principally child protection.  She was a regional director for Cafcass, 

where she completed a number of Individual Management Reviews.  She has 

been trained in conducting traditional SCRs.  

 

2.7 Review Panel   

 

2.7.1 This is made up of senior representatives of the agencies who were involved in 

the case.  The names/roles listed below comprise the membership of the Review 

Panel for this SCR.   

 

Name Role 

Pauline Armour Head of Service: Early Help (interim), Education, Southwark 

Children and Adults Services   

Jackie Cook Head Of Social Work Improvement & Quality Assurance, 

Children’s Social Care, Southwark 

Registered Manager 

& Head of 

Compliance & QA 

Independent Fostering Agency 

Ann Flynn                 Southwark Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) 

Development Manager 

Tina Hawkins Senior Administrator, SSCB 

 

Ros Healy Designated Doctor Safeguarding, Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS 

Foundation Trust (GSTFT) 

 

11



8 

 

Mark Hine Detective Inspector, Child Sexual Exploitation Team, 

Metropolitan Police 

Interim Service 

Manager 

Safeguarding, Quality Assurance and Learning 

Development, Greater London  Children’s Social Care 

Gwen Kennedy Director of Quality and Safety for Southwark Clinical 

Commissioning Group  

Russell Pearson Specialist Crime Review Group, Metropolitan Police 

Child Protection 

Manager 

Children’s Charity 

Debbie Saunders Head of Safeguarding Children Nursing,  GSTFT 

 

 

2.7.2 ‘The Review Panel manages the review process and plays a key role in ensuring 

the learning is drawn from the case’.
6
   In this instance, the panel have worked 

with Lead Reviewers, to read and review the relevant documentation and 

analyse the material from the integrated chronology and the IMRs.  The learning 

generated from the panel was considerably enriched by its mixture of 

representatives from core statutory services, and private and voluntary 

organisations.   

 

Panel members are also responsible for supporting members of their agency to 

take part in the learning event.    

 

2.8  Learning Event 

A full-day learning event in early September 2014 was attended by over thirty 

professionals involved in this case, as well as the Independent Chair of the SSCB.  

The day was used to gather their information and views, via multi-agency small 

group discussions.   

      Written feedback from the participants reflected a general appreciation of the 

opportunity to reflect on the case with colleagues from across agencies.  In 

response to the question ‘What did you find useful about today?’, here are two 

representative comments: 

• Being able to hear the different perspectives from the agencies involved. 

Being able to reflect on one’s own practice – how I can improve it.  It enabled 

discussion without looking at blame in that gaps could be identified. It also 

allowed for reflection on how everyone can improve.  

• Being able to discuss with different agencies and colleagues openly and 

honestly the difficulties and challenges around LAC and Child R in particular. 

We are all saying the same thing but implementing it is the problem. 

Finance/IT Systems/ geography being some of the issues. 

Attendees were also asked to contribute ideas about ‘key messages’, and how to 

implement the lessons from this SCR.  Their feedback was valuable, and 

demonstrated how multi-agency learning can be generated by such an event.  

                                                 
6
 Ibid, Para 5.20 

12



9 

 

2.9 Involvement of family members  

R and her mother have been informed about this SCR.  R has been invited to give 

her views about the services she received in the review period, and any other 

messages she would like the Review Panel and Lead Reviewers to have from her.  

So far, she has not wished to participate.  This means that a significant avenue 

for learning is missing.     

 

3.  Family history  
 

Family member Address 

Mother London  

Father Abroad 

Subject R Foster placement, Greater 

London  

Older sibling London  

Half-sibling Foster care  

Half-sibling Foster care 

Half-sibling Foster care 

Maternal 

Grandmother 

Lives abroad/visits London 

 

Members of the family have settled in the country at different times.  Child R and 

her older sibling lived abroad until she was about 8 years old.  At a later date the 

maternal grandmother settled in this country 

 

A genogram is attached as Appendix 2.   

 

3.1 Little is known of R’s father.  Child  R and her older sibling were born in their 

mothers home country.  R was left there in the care of her maternal 

grandmother as a baby, when her mother came to live in London.  The family 

was fully reunited in this country by about 2007, with three younger half-siblings 

also being born during this period.    

 

3.2 From 2002: 

 

The family had no secure housing or finances in London, and often stayed with 

other relatives or friends.  This meant that they moved a lot, resulting in 

instability for the children.  Both Police and Children’s Social Care (from 2002, 

when Mother’s first child initially arrived in the UK) received referrals about 

criminality in the household, largely related to drug-dealing and other acquisitive 

offences, and neglect of the children.   

 

R was the main target of her mother’s abuse, which included emotional rejection 

and physical assaults.  She was neglected and left in charge of her younger 

siblings; she was exposed to many adults who could have posed a risk to her.    

 

13



10 

 

R was made the subject of a Child Protection (CP) Plan in 2009.  She ran away 

early in 2010, asking to be taken into care because her mother had beaten her.  

Her siblings were removed shortly after this, and all the children have been 

looked-after under Care Orders from that point onwards.   

 

3.3 From 2010 (R’s entry into care): 

 

 (NB, This summary does not include further information about the other children 

of the family, save to say that the younger children remain looked-after and are 

in long-term foster care.  R’s older brother is a care-leaver and lives 

independently in London.) 

 

 R has had an unsettled time in terms of placements, experiencing eight moves in 

care.  There was a stable placement (spring 2010 to late summer 2011), which 

was followed by a period of highly unsettled behaviour and placement 

disruptions.  In addition, R has now had a total of ten allocated social workers.  

 

 R was well supported for the move from primary to secondary school, and she 

did well in Year 7.  A subsequent dramatic deterioration in her behaviour, both in 

school and in non-compliance with her foster carers, seems to have been 

prompted by reconnection with her mother and maternal grandmother, who 

arrived in the country  in this period.  School staff reported that R began Year 8 

presenting and behaving in an entirely different way.  Throughout the rest of 

2011 and into 2012, she went missing from her foster carers on a regular basis, 

and her defiant and provocative behaviour in school gave rise to concerns about 

her vulnerability to sexual exploitation and to ‘gang activity’.  R was subject to an 

increasing number of fixed-term exclusions from school.   

 

 R’s contact with her family – Mother, Grandmother and siblings – has been 

fragmented and at times entirely absent.  This may be because she was, initially 

at least, blamed for all the children coming into care.  However, especially during 

2011, when her grandmother arrived in the UK, R began to return to her 

mother’s home on a regular (but unregulated and unsupervised) basis.  She 

continued to decline the proposed arrangements for contact with her younger 

siblings.   

 

 At the point where this case review begins, the school had made a complaint 

about the persistent lack of response from CSC to their concerns, in what 

appeared to be a breakdown in communication.  R had had three disrupted 

placements, and one planned move, in the previous six months.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



11 

 

4.  The Review Period (February 2012 to March 2014)   

 
 A brief narrative 

       
4.1 At the beginning of 2012, R was in her 4

th
 foster placement since coming into 

care.  All of these had thus far been within Southwark, and this meant she did 

not have to change schools.   

 

R was going missing on a regular basis from her foster home, and was often out 

very late – sometimes being dropped off by an older man.   Details of her time 

out of placement were unknown, but it was believed that R was spending regular 

time at her mother’s home, and/or staying out with friends.  She had a poor 

relationship with her single foster carer. 

 

4.2 After a placement breakdown in late February, a similar pattern developed in 

another local foster placement, with a couple.  In addition, R’s disruptive 

behaviour at school meant that she was at risk of a permanent exclusion.  The 

school’s concerns about the apparent risks to R – and her own risk-taking 

behaviour – led them to press CSC for a decision to move her away from London 

for her own protection.   This move eventually happened, via another placement 

breakdown, in the summer of 2012.  

 

4.3 R was next placed with white foster carers in a shire county, provided by the 

Independent Fostering Agency (IFA).  This was R’s first trans-racial placement.  

Shortly after this move, the carers’ pre-arranged holiday meant that R was 

required to go for a fortnight to respite carers.  She refused this move, and 

instead absconded to stay with her mother – as it transpired, for five weeks.  

Mother and daughter now insisted that they both wished for R to be discharged 

from care.  An assessment to this end was considered by the local authority, but 

they argued that R should first be returned, via a Recovery Order, to her new 

foster carers, followed by an assessment of the viability of R returning to her 

mother.  The Judge in these proceedings granted the Recovery Order, but also 

recommended that the LA find the means to move R closer to home. 

 

4.4 At this time, Mother stated her intention to make an application to discharge the 

Care Order.  This plan did not in fact transpire, and R stayed in her 6
th

 placement 

without further disruption for two school terms (until April 2013), with only one 

further missing overnight episode, early on.  She attended local school and 

appeared generally to settle well, and her foster carers supported her to make 

some local friends.  Her relationship with her foster carers and their family 

improved and she did not continue to go missing.  Contact with her family and 

home area was infrequent, at her own request.   

 

  

 

 

15



12 

 

At R’s LAC Review in February 2013, R had written down her wishes and feelings, 

at the encouragement of her foster carers.  She said she was ‘unhappy with her 

life’ and again expressed her wish to return to her mother, or at least move 

nearer to her.  However, she did not want to have ‘supervised’ or organised 

contact with her (this was proposed as weekly). 

   

 In April 2013, R went missing for a week, during which time she apparently 

stayed, or based herself, with her mother in Southwark.  Upon her return to her 

foster carers, she made an allegation of physical ill-treatment against the female 

carer (later retracted), which prompted the end of the placement.  R was moved 

to her current foster carers, in Greater London; this is also a trans-racial 

placement, provided by the same IFA. 

 

4.5 R has remained in this same placement since that time.  She attends a local 

secondary school, and has until recently used a Children’s Charity  in her familiar 

part of Inner London once a week.  Her school attendance and performance are 

good, as are her behaviour and general responsiveness in her foster home.  It is 

clear that R has a solid and positive relationship with these carers – the main 

carer being the male of the couple.       

 

Up to March 2014: 

Despite the stability that developed in this placement, R continued to stay out 

later than allowed on a regular basis, and went missing overnight on 12 

occasions, once remaining absent for two nights.  Her carers continued to work 

with her on keeping herself safe, and informing them of her whereabouts.  

However, in this placement, as in all others before, R remained unwilling to 

disclose any details about the identity of her friends, or about where she goes 

when she is missing.  Thus, the risk of harm to her has remained unknown, and 

possibly very high – especially in light of the incident which led to this SCR. 

 

 4.6 In early spring of this year, R missed school – something which was entirely out 

of character for her – and agreed to go to a hotel to meet an older man, 

someone she didn’t know.  Reportedly, he had telephoned her and said he had 

got her number from a friend of hers.  They met in a hotel, where he was said to 

have raped her.  During this encounter, R made telephone contact with her 

foster carer, who notified the police; both foster carer and police spoke to R on 

her mobile phone whilst she was missing, and to the taxi driver who brought her 

home, thus retrieving some details about where R had been.  The police were 

able to identify the man and to arrest him within the next 3 days.    

 

 (The details of how the man knew, or knew about, R and how he made contact 

with her have not been verified and remain unclear to the Review Panel.  R has 

declined to talk to anyone about this.). 

 

 R was persuaded by her foster carers later that same evening to attend one of 

the Haven centres for the victims of sexual assault; she was seen and interviewed 

by staff there, but did not agree to full forensic examination.   

16



13 

 

 The following day, R did not attend school, but did leave the foster home for 

several hours, from the afternoon through early evening.  She stated this was 

because she did not want to undergo further questioning by the police.  The 

same happened the next day, when R was out and not at school.  Police were 

able to establish that the alleged perpetrator had been in telephone contact with 

her, and had put pressure on her not to talk to Police.  Thus, she was at risk of 

witness intimidation, if not other threats to her safety.  When she returned home 

on that second day, the Police determined that she could not be kept safe in this 

placement.  They had considerable concerns for her wellbeing (especially 

because the alleged perpetrator was not yet in custody).  Thus it was decided 

that Police should exercise their Powers of Protection, by removing R from the 

foster home to the police station, and proposing that she should be placed in 

Secure Accommodation. This was not agreed by the LA, and she was returned 

the following day to her foster carers.  A Strategy Meeting was held to consider 

the investigation of the alleged sexual assault, as well as how to promote R’s 

ongoing safety.  

 

 R had spent the night in the police station (not in a cell, but in a communal area).  

The LA emergency duty team were able to send a social worker to be with her 

through the night.  Both R and her foster carers had asked for the male foster 

carer to accompany her to the station, but this was not permitted.  The reasons 

for this prohibition have not been explained within the Police IMR.  

 

5.  Practice and organisational learning  
 

A. Ascertain whether previous relevant information or history about the child 

and/or family members was known and taken into account in professionals’ 

assessment, planning and decision-making in respect of the child, the family 

and their circumstances.  Establish how that knowledge contributed to the 

outcome for the child. 

 

5.1 What historical records and knowledge were available? 

 

Mother moved to the UK in 1999, but most services, apart from the Police, had 

no contact with her and the family until 2002.  At that point, R’s older sibling 

came to join his mother in London; this led to serious concerns about his welfare, 

due to his exposure to criminality and drug activities in her household.  CSC 

intervened, firstly to accommodate him, and then to return him to his maternal 

grandmother when she was living abroad.   

 

Details of R’s developmental and care history from birth in 1998 to 2007 (care 

given by her maternal grandmother when she was living abroad) have not been 

recorded in any agency files and remain largely unknown.  

 

By 2007, there were younger children in the family, when R and her older 

brother were reunited with their mother.   

17



14 

 

From this point, the family were known to universal services in London (schools, 

health), and to CSC and Police because of intermittent CP referrals, investigations 

and assessments.  In 2009, there were reports relating to Child in Need Plans (for 

the younger siblings) and the CP Plan for R.  The Police have records regarding 

raids on the various households where Mother lived, and charges against her and 

her partner(s) for a variety of offences, mainly to do with dealing in drugs and 

theft.    

 

5.2  As often happens, the care proceedings in 2010/11 required the preparation of 

specialist assessments.  In this case, a very full psychiatrist’s report was especially 

useful in that it captured previously unknown information about the family 

history, obtained directly from the mother, grandmother, and children.  It also 

highlighted the psychiatrist’s assessment of R, and the impact of the abusive care 

she had experienced, as well as her exposure to other traumatic experiences as a 

young girl – e.g., being used to prepare and deliver drugs to customers,  

witnessing adult violence, and being left alone to care for her younger siblings.  

Anyone reading this report, and the judge’s use of it in his final judgement, can 

be left in no doubt about the damage done to R and her degree of vulnerability 

(including to child sexual exploitation), as well as her need for therapeutic help.   

 

5.3  What was known about R’s history, and how was it relied upon in making plans 

for her? 

 

This question will largely be answered in relation to CSC, where most of the 

relevant history was recorded and kept.  The importance of records was 

particularly significant, because R was, and continues to be, reluctant to talk 

openly about her past and her family.   

 

The CSC IMR found that the workers and managers directly responsible for R did 

not access the relevant records held by them which provide an account of her 

history.  These included key documents: the earlier CP reports for CP 

conferences, the CP conference minutes, the assessments of R and her siblings, 

and the legal documents referred to above.  As a result, R’s psycho-social history, 

her own and her family’s experiences, and the degree and nature of her 

vulnerability (including to child sexual exploitation) were poorly understood by 

those acting as her ‘corporate parent’, as well as by their multi-agency partners.   

 

This affected plans and decision-making, which in many instances appeared to be 

reactive rather than considered and based on knowledge of R’s complex needs.   

 

The social workers relied on the records of R’s recent LAC Reviews.  These are 

essential documents, as they include the young person’s wishes and feelings, and 

details of the current care plan.  However, they do not include a picture of the 

child’s history before coming into care, or the full journey in care.   

 

18



15 

 

5.4 In the view of the Review Panel and the Lead Reviewers, it is good practice for 

the allocated social worker to read and consider a child’s history, especially 

where that child is looked-after by the local authority.   

 

5.5 Without this basis for his/her care planning, the LA and partners are unlikely to 

achieve the best possible outcomes for the child.  

 

Learning Point 

 

Knowledge of a child’s psycho-social history is essential for effective 

assessments and planning for children. 

 

Recommendation 1: 

 

CSC managers should use every opportunity (induction, supervision, 

training) to embed the requirement for the allocated Social Worker to 

read and understand a child’s history, and for the worker’s manager to 

prioritise and protect the time needed to do so.  This message should be 

supported by guidance about key documents and the use of 

chronologies, to support better understanding of history and patterns.   

 

A means of monitoring whether this has been done should be put in 

place for all children who are subject to a Child in Need Plan, Child 

Protection Plan, or Care Plan as a looked-after child.    

 

Recommendation 2: 

 

The audit template for CSC cases should include a question about the 

consideration of personal/family history in assessments.       

 

5.6 The Review Panel wanted to know whether not reading a child’s history had 

become accepted ‘custom and practice’, in a busy and pressured work 

environment.  The responses we got suggested that, although this may have 

been an extreme example, it is not uncommon to work with a child or family 

without an informed and solid understanding of their history. (Other SCRs 

indicate that similar practice occurs very widely; this is not a Southwark-only 

problem.)   

 

Why should this be so?   

 

• Many paper files are archived, so there is a bureaucratic process, and 

some delay, involved in obtaining them. 

• A number of key documents have not previously been scanned onto the 

Southwark electronic system (CareFirst).  This is now improving, with 

stronger administrative support in the new structure (Social Work 

Matters).  

19



16 

 

• Social Workers and their managers are very busy and may not prioritise 

reading the child’s history.  

 

5.6  Specific team factors 

 

(The problems in the Looked-after Children Team, and their impact, are 

described here, but are equally relevant to several of the other questions posed 

by the SCR, in the following sections.)  

 

Severe difficulties in the Looked-after Children Team, during the time frame for 

this review, meant that their work was not carried out as it should have been.  

Sickness levels were high, and this included one of the two main social workers 

for R (allocated during 2012), who was off sick for a lengthy period, a practice 

manager (for several months in late 2012/early 2013) and a service manager 

(mid-2012).  Overall, the team had a sickness rate of 20 to 25%.   

 

 Perhaps not surprisingly supervision was irregular for the SWs working with R 

during 2012 and 2013.  This inevitably compounds the difficulties for a worker, 

who has less opportunity to reflect on her cases and to receive managerial 

guidance and support to prioritise and complete tasks.    

 

The template for recording case supervision includes a question at the top of the 

page: ‘Have you reviewed the case records since the last supervision?’  In the 

records reviewed for R, this is consistently left blank by the supervisor, and again 

suggests a lack of the supervisor’s time for careful file review.
7
 

 

As a ‘knock-on’ effect of absences in the team, R’s next allocated social worker 

was assigned an unrealistically high caseload – partly because she was covering 

cases for several absent colleagues – and was given insufficient guidance about 

what tasks she was expected to cover.  There were no transfer summaries or full 

chronologies to support this additional work (See Para 5.14.6 below).  To make 

matters worse, the team manager post changed several times during this same 

period, so that there was little continuity in the supervision and oversight of 

cases.  Two of the acting managers were agency staff who were unfamiliar with 

Southwark.  The Review Panel has not been told how or whether more senior 

managers took responsibility for assessing the risks to the team (staff and service 

users) during this extended period.  

 

The impact of staff sickness and serial changes of managers in the LAC Team 

(2012 and 2013) clearly affected the service provided to R, her carers and other 

partners – and no doubt others as well.  But while these circumstances account 

                                                 
7
 One other oddity is that several recordings, filed as ‘Supervision’ on CareFirst, contain a variety of 

different records, including emails, and minutes of meetings.  This means that a list of ‘supervisions’ 

on CareFirst can mislead about the timing and number of actual supervision sessions with the 

worker to discuss the case.   

 

 

20



17 

 

for many of the lapses in practice, they do not suffice as an answer to ‘what went 

wrong’.   

The responsibility lies with the wider organisation to ensure that the highest 

priority statutory work continues to be carried out, even when services are under 

strain, and this clearly includes its duties towards looked-after children.  

 

All organisations must anticipate the times when – inevitably – any team may 

become highly vulnerable, as in this case. This can happen for a variety of 

reasons, the most common being high sickness levels, or an unexpected degree 

of turnover, in workers and managers (both were true for this team).  These 

circumstances are risky for all concerned, but especially for service users.  It is 

the responsibility of individual team managers to deal with these matters 

routinely and to risk-assess the impact on the service provided.  Senior managers 

need to receive reports to enable them to monitor and prepare for more critical 

situations in teams.  

 

The recommendations given below try to set out what kinds of preparations 

might be needed.  But there will be different circumstances in every 

organisation, and in every crisis, which means that details will have to be 

developed as required.  This is even more challenging when resources are 

already under pressure.  The main point is that these situations should not come 

as a surprise to anyone, and that organisations must develop ways to minimise 

the detriment to service users and colleagues (and the team members 

themselves).  The Review Panel were told of the system in GSTFT Safeguarding 

Assurance Board, which has a regular item on its agenda about safeguarding 

team vacancy rates and how these are being managed. 

 

Learning Point 

 

In any agency, high turnover and sickness among workers and managers in 

a team carry the risk of loss of knowledge about cases and potential 

failure to carry out statutory duties.   
 

Recommendation 3: 
 

In order to manage the risks which arise from gaps and vulnerabilities 

in teams, managers in all agencies should have in place the following:  
 

• Communication to all levels of management (including the SSCB) 

when a team is experiencing high levels of sickness and/or rapid 

turnover of personnel.   

• A template for risk management of work which is not being 

covered in the absence of team members. 

• Communication about staff absence to service users and 

colleagues, in answer-phone and out-of-office messages, with 

alternative names, numbers and addresses for anyone trying to 

make contact regarding a case.  More pro-actively, a letter should 

be sent to the child, family and members of the network when a 

worker is on long-term sick.   

21



18 

 

• Support for staff in a team experiencing extreme difficulties, as 

part of the ‘risk assessment’ of the team’s circumstances.     

 

 

B. Evaluate whether the care plan was robust, and appropriate for R, the family 

and their circumstances;  

 

C. Ascertain whether the plan was effectively implemented, monitored and 

reviewed and whether all agencies contributed appropriately to the 

development and delivery of the multi-agency plan; and  

 

D. Identify the aspects of the care plan that worked well and those that did not 

work well and why. Identify the degree to which agencies challenged each 

other regarding the effectiveness of the care plan, including progress against 

agreed outcomes for the child. And whether any protocol for professional 

disagreement was invoked. 

 

(The IMRs’ and the Review Panel’s analyses of these three areas of practice 

overlap to such an extent, that it seems best to comment on them together in 

one section.) 

 

5.7  R’s Care Plan was comprised of most of the required elements, touching upon 

her health, education, practical and emotional needs; a gap has been noted in 

relation to the attention given to her sense of ‘identity’.  Both her current and 

future care was thought about at her LAC Reviews.     

 

In terms of wider planning, a clear and pro-active approach to R’s placements 

was lacking, as most of these were unplanned and appeared to rely on ‘what was 

available at the time’.  (See also Para 5.13).  There was a muddled decision to 

proceed with a ‘Placement with Parents’ assessment when R refused to leave her 

mother’s home for five weeks (August 2012).  This appears to have been 

proposed without a proper risk assessment of Mother’s household, possibly 

because the LA was unsure of obtaining a Recovery Order for R, in order to 

return her to placement.  In fact, Mother was staying in a friend’s house, and she 

was sharing a bed with R.  The possibility of Mother applying to revoke R’s Care 

Order continued to be mentioned at R’s LAC Reviews for the next year, indicating 

to all concerned that her future as a LAC was still in some uncertainty.  

 

The Review Panel were told that R continues not to understand her Care Plan, 

and has a persisting anxiety about whether her current placement will be 

‘permanent’.  It is likely that, while professionals may understand the idea of 

permanence conferred by a Full Care Order, permanency about a placement can 

be blurred.  And we know that for R, the future security of any placement has 

become difficult to believe in.  In addition, there may be a further obstacle to 

assuring a young person like R that she will remain in a placement with an IFA, 

because of funding implications.  LAC Reviews should be as transparent as 

possible about the longer-term commitment to a placement where the child 

22



19 

 

might remain until age 18, and this message should be clearly conveyed to the 

child.  

 

R’s Care Plan was reviewed at the required frequency.  However, there was a 

delay for most of these in sign-off by the Team Manager, and it must be assumed 

that they were not uploaded onto CareFirst in a timely way.  A section below 

(Para 5.9) deals with the lack of sharing of these records with relevant partners.  

 

R’s LAC Reviews benefited from having a consistent IRO, who knew the case well.  

It is she who recognised R to be ‘an emotionally vulnerable young 

person…despite her external bravado’.  

    

However, the Review Panel has found that there were significant factors which 

affected how well the plans for R were implemented.  These are described 

below.    

 

5.8 R’s lack of participation 

  

 R is of an age and understanding to be an active partner in her care planning, 

something which can help professionals immeasurably in trying to do a better job 

for a young person (YP).  R has attended her LAC Reviews and listened to what 

was being said, but she has been unable or unwilling to participate actively in this 

process.  There have been examples of her last two sets of foster carers helping 

her to write down her wishes and feelings, and these have been important 

contributions.  

 

In relation to the actions which are proposed in order to meet her needs, she has 

refused or postponed most of these (counselling, life story work, use of an 

independent advocate and contact with family members).  Working with R to 

engage her more positively is addressed in more detail in Para 5.22 below.   

 

Many professionals involved with R have commented on her reticence, her lack 

of engagement, and her stated mistrust of professionals from the core statutory 

agencies.  Perhaps because of her ambivalent feelings about her care status, she 

has been especially resistant towards her social workers and the IRO for her LAC 

Reviews. 

 

This has not been helped by R’s changes of social worker in the past 4 ½ years 

(there have been 10).  The level of turnover in inner London CSC social work 

teams is very high (NB, not currently true for Southwark), and we have already 

noted that the team in question previously had particular pressures which led to 

even greater inconsistency in the allocated worker.  It would be hard for any 

young person to develop trust and a more open relationship with her key worker 

under these circumstances.  

 

It has emerged from the Learning Event that R responds better to workers in 

some settings, such as the specialist staff from the Independent Fostering 

23



20 

 

Agency, who have conducted many of her ‘return interviews’, and who have 

done one-to-one ‘life style’ work with her.  She has also been more open and 

positive in how she works with mentors from the Children’s Charity.  

It may be that these organisations are perceived by R as having less authority 

over her, so that she can retain a sense of her own control and privacy. 

 

Her current foster carers have invested a huge amount of time and effort to 

building a good relationship with R, on the principles of trust and respect. This 

has borne fruit, in that R has settled well with the family and is beginning to 

‘open up’ to her main carer about her time outside the home.  She now spends 

most of the time at home with her foster family, and her school attendance 

continues to be excellent.  She has at least one significant local friendship – a 

new development. 

 

Learning Point 

 

Many looked-after adolescents find it hard to trust and communicate 

with professionals who are tasked with planning for them, and helping 

to keep them safe – especially when their key worker changes 

frequently.   This can significantly constrain the ability of workers (and 

the local authority, as ‘corporate parents’) to respond to the young 

person’s wishes and feelings, and to meet their needs.  

 

Recommendation 4: 

 

Looked-after children’s reviews should identify a named person who is 

best placed to enable the child or young person to communicate their 

wishes and feelings.  That person should be able to link closely with the 

child’s key worker in children’s social care, who represents the local 

authority’s responsibility for the child or young person.  

 

 

 

5.9 Care Plan not shared among multi-agency partners 

 

 This was a significant finding in this case review
8
.  R’s last two foster carers 

received little background information about R from CSC upon her arrival, and 

were never provided with a copy of her current Care Plan (as reflected in her 

most recent LAC Review).  This left them without the full information they 

needed to care for R in the best possible way.  This changed little over time: 

although they participated in each LAC Review, they often did not receive a 

record of the decisions made (although they kept their own notes of these 

meetings).    

 

                                                 
8
 A similar finding was found in a recent review, London Borough of Southwark Safeguarding Children 

Board: Child P: An Overview of Services Provided,  Smith F, July 2013 (unpublished report), Para 7.3.3. 

 

24



21 

 

 Key information was not regularly shared by CSC among the partners working 

with R, and as a consequence other agencies remained working in their own 

‘silos’ and not in-putting to the Care Plan.  They operated without a shared 

understanding of R’s history and experiences of abuse, change and loss, and even 

of her current circumstances.  This was true for health professionals (e.g., the GP 

who carried out her Review Health Assessment in 2013) and for her schools, 

especially the school outside London which had no contact from CSC, and 

inexplicably did not receive R’s education file.  They relied on R’s foster carers for 

information about R.    

 

 Some Personal Education Plan (PEP) meetings were held for R, but none resulted 

in a written-up plan over the two years covered by this case review.  This meant 

that the record of decisions was not distributed and available for use as a 

working document for R.    

 

 It seems inescapable that many essential partnership activities, not least all kinds 

of communication, work less well when a child is placed out-of-borough.  The 

IMR for Guy’s and St. Thomas’s NHS Foundation Trust noted that ‘LAC Health 

Assessments of children placed out of borough in 2011/2012 seemed 

fragmented’, and the Review Panel were told that this continues to be the case.  

CAMH Services are not offered to looked-after children who are placed out of 

borough, nor is CareLink, a service which works to support foster carers.  

Generally, establishing good working networks and reliable delivery systems for 

these children is a major challenge, given that between 70/80% of looked-after 

children from inner-London authorities are placed outside of their area.  

 

5.10 Limited membership of LAC Reviews 

 

5.10.1 In recent years, local authorities have aimed to make their practice with 

looked-after children less formal and more ‘child-centred’.  As a consequence, 

LAC Reviews have usually become smaller, reflecting the child/YP’s wishes about 

who should be included in something as personal as their LAC review.  This is 

defined as good practice in the IRO handbook (national guidance).  

 

In this case, we have been told that R was not comfortable with being a ‘LAC’, 

and was distrustful and even resentful of professionals, at least those in the 

statutory agencies.  For all these reasons, most of R’s six-monthly reviews 

included only her foster carers, R herself, and her social worker (in one instance, 

school was represented and Mother also attended).  For recent LAC reviews, the 

Independent Foster Agency carers have completed a set of reports and 

presented these.   Other agencies, including those significant for R (e.g., the 

Children’s Charity involved) were not part of the discussions, and it is unclear 

what, if any, reports they were asked to contribute.   

CSC instigated little communication with the Children’s Charity, the agency who 

probably knew the most about R and her peer group back in Southwark. 

 

25



22 

 

What we do know, as noted above, is that the network of agencies involved with 

R were not made aware of the plans made in these reviews – plans which would 

almost certainly reflect their actions with R.  

 

R’s social worker was said (by the IRO) to have consulted with R’s mother before 

each LAC Review, ‘to feed her views into the review, but there is no record of 

these consultations in the LAC review records and it is not clear whether this 

actually happened’.
9
 

 

5.10.2 The child-focused format of LAC Reviews creates a systems problem, when a 

wider meeting of professionals in the network is needed but there is no routine 

occasion for this to happen.  In this case, R was the subject of serious and on-

going concerns in several of the agencies who worked with her.  The 

professionals from these agencies – workers and their managers – held often 

discrete sets of information, and needed an opportunity to share these and their 

concerns arising from their contact with R or her family.  Because the LAC 

Reviews did not serve this purpose, a separate meeting was required, along the 

lines of a Team around the Child (TAC), or simply a professionals meeting.  

 

 

Learning Point 

 

Effective care planning for looked-after children requires input from all 

partners in the form of either attendance or appropriate reports for the 

LAC Review process. However, LAC Reviews, as smaller, child-centred 

meetings, do not provide a suitable forum for the full professional 

network of those who know about and are working with the child.  

Thus, there may be no regular opportunity for this network to share 

significant information and concerns. 

 

 In addition, the LA needs to ensure that foster carers and the 

professional network are given full and good information about the 

determined needs of the child and the current plans, as well as relevant 

history.  These actions can become more difficult for children placed out 

of borough.  

 

Recommendation 5: 

 

The allocated Social Worker should provide the most up-to-date Care 

Plan for a looked-after child to carers upon placement, along with a 

current risk assessment (regarding missing from care).  

 

 

 

 

                                                 
9
 IMR from CSC, Para. 8.3 

26



23 

 

Recommendation 6: 

 

For each looked-after child, Children’s Social Care should maintain a list 

of partner agencies who are working directly and regularly with the 

child, in order to a) obtain a report for the LAC Review, where 

appropriate; and b) send a copy of the child’s updated Care Plan after 

each LAC Review.  This should include private and voluntary 

organisations.    

 

Recommendation 7: 

 

The DCS should undertake an evaluation of the support for and active 

work with LAC placed out of borough, to establish whether these 

children receive an equitable service compared with children placed 

within Southwark. 

 

Recommendation 8:  

 

CSC should arrange for a separate meeting for the child’s professional 

network, outside the LAC Review,  in the following circumstances:     

 

• The child’s move out of borough (where possible, to include 

‘old’ and ‘new’ professionals in the child’s network) 

• The child going missing on a regular basis (as a Missing from 

Care Strategy Meeting) 

• The need to share serious concerns and information about the 

child, including significant lack of progress in elements of the 

Care Plan, which means that the child’s needs are not being 

met. 

 

Such a meeting can also be requested by any member of the network.   

 

This meeting could take the form of a pre-meeting in conjunction with 

the child’s LAC Review.  

 

 

  

5.11 Lack of progress on actions from LAC Reviews 

 

The Review Panel noted that some elements of R’s care plan remained the same, 

but without any progress, over the time span of several reviews.  In some 

instances, this was because of R’s reluctance to accept services.  In at least one 

other case, it was because there had been a delay of several months in the Social 

Worker making a referral (for additional tutoring for R).   

 

It may be helpful in future to make it clearer in the LAC review records why some 

items continue to appear over time, without being implemented.  

27



24 

 

The IRO for R explained that she ‘rolled over’ a number of uncompleted actions 

so that they would not be forgotten, and so that they could be discussed at each 

review.  She did ask for the completion of outstanding processes, such as the 

Review Health Assessment.  Where there is lack of progress, the reasons for this 

need to be made clear, so that they can be challenged or escalated as required.    

  

5.12 Limited communication by CSC with partner agencies  

 

 The staffing problems and workload pressures in the LAC Team (described in 

Para 5.6 above) inevitably affected how well social workers and their managers 

were able to communicate with partner agencies.  

  

The IMRs from Education and Independent Fostering Agency describe a 

persistent and depressing pattern of trying and failing to get responses from 

Southwark CSC, regarding their concerns about R.  During Year 8, R’s first 

secondary school regularly contacted CSC about incidents and behaviour by R 

which suggested that she was possibly involved in ‘gang-related activity’, and at 

risk of sexual exploitation.  She had a number of fixed-term exclusions and was at 

risk of permanent exclusion, based on her disruptive behaviour in school.  The 

Education IMR notes seven instances of formal, and increasingly serious, 

communication about R from the school to CSC, where there was ‘no evidence of 

action and feedback following the sharing of these concerns’.   

 

After several months, a letter from the Vice Principal of the school, to the CSC 

Service Manager, and a formal police notice (Merlin) sent to CSC finally resulted 

in a ‘high risk case/strategy meeting’, including Police, school and carers.  This 

was an appropriate use of ‘escalation’, though it could have happened sooner.  

At this meeting, one decision was that a ‘Missing from Care Strategy Meeting’ 

should be held; this did not happen.  Shortly after, R moved away from London 

and from this school. 

 

For those working with R, frustration about not getting a response from CSC staff 

generally resulted in arrangements for bilateral foster carer/school 

communication, and this became the default position during much of the next 

two placements, including the first move out of London.  At this point, the 

concerns about R’s behaviour had reduced, and there was perhaps a sense that 

she was now safer at some distance from London.  After the initial Placement 

Planning Meeting, and a LAC Review, there was no contact at all from CSC with 

the child, the carers, or the school for a period of almost three months.  The 

school had no information about R’s history, either from CSC or from the 

(missing) school file, apart from that provided by the foster carers.   

 

A recent Southwark case review (Child P, 2013) noted similar ‘poor 

communication between agencies’ as a recurring issue.  In that case, the 

placement distance out of borough was even further and more difficult to 

manage.  

 

28



25 

 

The Review Panel discussed why there may be a reluctance to use escalation 

procedures, perhaps because of reluctance to ‘get colleagues into trouble’, or a 

feeling that it wouldn’t do any good.  This is an issue which needs greater 

attention, given the impact of letting an unsatisfactory situation continue.  The 

outcome for the child is likely to be worse and relationships among professional 

partners likely to deteriorate.  

 

  

Recommendation 6: 

 

For each looked-after child, Children’s Social Care should maintain a list of partner 

agencies who are working directly and regularly with the child, in order to a) 

obtain a report for the LAC Review, where appropriate; and b) send a copy of the 

child’s updated Care Plan after each LAC Review.  This should include private and 

voluntary organisations.    

 

Recommendation 7: 

 

The DCS should undertake an evaluation of the support for and active work with 

LAC placed out of borough, to establish whether these children receive an 

equitable service compared with children placed within Southwark. 

 

Recommendation 8:  

 

CSC should arrange for a separate meeting for the child’s professional network, 

outside the LAC Review,  in the following circumstances:     

 

• The child’s move out of borough (where possible, to include ‘old’ and ‘new’ 

professionals in the child’s network) 

• The child going missing on a regular basis (as a Missing from Care Strategy 

Meeting) 

• The need to share serious concerns and information about the child, 

including significant lack of progress in elements of the Care Plan, which 

means that the child’s needs are not being met. 

 

Such a meeting can also be requested by any member of the network.   

 

This meeting could take the form of a pre-meeting in conjunction with the child’s 

LAC Review.  

5.13 R’s placements 

 

 R has had 7 placements (plus two respite placements) since her entry into care in 

January 2010.  The joint authors of the CSC IMR are strongly critical, and 

comment that   

 

‘The clearest failing of the care plan has been in finding a suitable long-term 

placement for R.’ (CSC IMR, Para 8.4)  

29



26 

 

 

They suggest that some of R’s carers were not suitable to meet her needs, but 

were likely chosen because they were the only local resource available when the 

previous placement disrupted.   

The Review Panel were told by CSC colleagues that this is often the case for older 

children, especially those deemed ‘hard to place’, in comparison with the more 

careful matching of younger children with their carers.    

 

Such decisions are inevitably constrained by capacity in the service.  Resources 

issues (staff and placements) represent significant challenges to all local 

authorities, and inner-London boroughs probably contend more than most with 

a lack of local placements, because of the availability of housing space.  There is 

thus a tension between a desire to keep a child within her local network/school, 

and the ability to achieve this with suitable and skilled carers for the most 

vulnerable children.  In R’s case, her vulnerability was now, as an adolescent, 

expressing itself increasingly as demanding, non-compliant and aggressive 

behaviour – something which most of her carers were ill-equipped to deal with.  

This supply/demand imbalance was reflected in the numbers of older children 

for whom an IFA placement is sought; Independent Fostering Agency reported 

that most of their referrals are for LAC aged 11 to 15, with complex needs and 

challenging behaviour. 

 

Clearly, a proper assessment at the outset of R’s high level needs (which were 

fully explored and set out during the care proceedings) should have guided the 

choice of placement.  This might have led to more stability for R.  But even this is 

hard to state categorically, as R herself was torn between her feelings about her 

family and friends, and a desire to settle in foster care.    

 

The use of the Independent Fostering Agency for the last two placements has 

been positive, as this IFA has experience and skills in working with children and 

young people who are hard to reach, distressed, and affected by experiences of 

poor and abusive care in childhood.  Their carers are very well supported by a 

team of professional colleagues who provide extra input to the child in 

placement, if needed.  In this case, Return Interviews have regularly been carried 

out by a consistent person from the Independent Fostering Agency, and the 

same member of staff has done successful ‘Life Style’ work with R.  

 

Learning Point 

 

The choice, and timing, of local authority placements available for 

looked-after children does not always allow a matching of the child’s 

needs to the ability of the carers, especially for more complex and ‘hard 

to place’ adolescents.  

 

Recommendation 11: 

 

Every LAC Review should set out the child’s needs and how well the 

30



27 

 

placement is meeting these, including identity and diversity needs.  

This information should be collated so that the LA can monitor its 

responsibilities as corporate parent.  

 

E.   Establish whether the respective statutory duties of agencies working with the 

child and family were fulfilled; and 

 

F.   Identify whether there were obstacles or difficulties in this case that prevented 

agencies from fulfilling their duties (this should include consideration of both 

organisational issues and other contextual issues).
10

 

 

5.14 The previous sections have outlined a number of deficits in how (principally) 

CSC acted as corporate parent to R.  The following duties were carried out 

appropriately.   

 

• LAC Reviews were held as required. 

• With some exceptions, boarding-out visits were made to R every six 

weeks, as required during the first year of a placement. 

• Apart from one extended gap between placements, R’s schooling has 

been provided and has been a positive part of her care experience.  Her 

attendance in her last two schools has been excellent, and she is learning 

well.   

 

Other statutory duties have not been fulfilled, and these are described below, 

with some analysis of why this should be so. 

 

5.14.1 Annual Personal Education Plans (PEPs) were not completed during the case 

review period.  

 

PEP meetings were held (apart from during the period in School 2), but the 

agreed decisions and plans were not written up, distributed to those attending, 

or uploaded onto CareFirst.  There is no explanation for this omission, apart from 

the workload pressure on workers, or the absence of the allocated social worker 

on sick leave. 

   

The CSC electronic recording system CareFirst has a section 

(‘Assessments/Forms’) which lists the statutory requirements for looked-after 

children, with templates for recording these actions.  This window in CareFirst  

enables the worker and manager to see what is due to be completed, and 

whether this has happened, and when.   

 

The Review Panel were unable to discover how or whether this is used as a 

performance management tool, but consider that it offers a means of supporting 

effective work both in individual cases and more broadly, and of tracking the 

completion of required duties towards a looked-after child.   

                                                 
10

 Ibid, Para 6.15  

31



28 

 

 

 

 

 

5.14.2 Gaps in LAC annual Review Health Assessments  

 

The IMR for Guy’s and St. Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust covers the provision of 

LAC medicals (called either the Initial Health Assessment, or the annual Review 

Health Assessment, or RHA
11

).    

 

The author states that:  

 

The statutory duties with regard to R’s Health Assessments were not fulfilled.  

The Designated Doctor’s LAC health records had no indication that the 2011 

and 2012 RHAs had been completed; this goes against the statutory guidance. 

This is a systems issue in terms of monitoring and tracking of assessments.’ 

 

She goes on to speculate that systems difficulties are greater when the child/YP 

is placed out of borough.   

 

The LAC Health Team have tried to instigate a system which would allow them to 

track all Southwark LAC, but have not had the resources to develop a system 

with CSC. 

 

In relation specifically to R, it appears that she did have a RHA in 2011, but not in 

2012.  It is the responsibility of the SW for the child to request this from the 

designated doctor for LAC/community paediatricians or from the GP or specialist 

LAC nurse as indicted on the child’s previous IHA/RHA.   

 

In 2013, R had a further RHA.  This was sent to the Specialist Child Health LAC 

team in a timely way so that the “Part C” health summary could be written, but 

the Health Summary was not completed and distributed to partner agencies for a 

further four months.  

 

Similar to the problems in the CSC LAC Team, there were significant periods of 

sickness absence in the specialist child health LAC medical and administrative 

teams during the period under review.  

 

These circumstances appear to echo those of a similar Southwark case reviewed 

in 2013 (Child P).  The independent author of that case review made the 

following recommendation: 

 

Children’s Social Care should, in co-operation with Health and Education 

partners, review current arrangements under the Care Planning, Placement & 

Review (England) Regulations 2010, for forwarding of child health records to 

                                                 
11

 For looked-after children under 5 years old, the RHA is required 6-monthly; for over 5s, it is done 

annually.  

32



29 

 

the relevant ‘area authority’ and arrangements for health assessments (initial 

and review)…for children placed out of borough.
12

 

5.14.3 The Greater London borough where R now lives was not informed of her 

placement in that area, as is required.
13

 

 

In Southwark, a member of the placements team normally sends the required 

notification letter to the local authority where the looked-after child or young 

person has been placed.  At the same time, the details of the placement are 

loaded onto CareFirst, and a record is kept of the letter to the other local 

authority.     

 

These are routine tasks which were not done when R moved back into the 

Greater London area; there is no explanation for this omission.  An exactly similar 

omission was noted in the recent case review of Child P (Para 7.3.3). The Head of 

Social Work Improvement and Quality Assurance has since requested that the 

Placements Team Manager audit 20 recent placements to find out how 

compliant the system is generally, and whether there any weaknesses which 

might lead to omissions, such as occurred in this case. 

 

5.14.4 Gaps in records 

 

The IMR for CSC highlights the following gaps: 

 

• There is no chronology or genogram on R’s file.  Both of these are expected 

to be provided for all children who are clients of CSC, but they are often not 

completed or updated and on file.   

• There are no fostering records during R’s placement (29/11/11 to 25/2/12).  

This leaves in doubt the support which the carer at that time was receiving 

from the fostering service. 

• The CSC records, for the critical 5 weeks when R was absent from care 

(August 2012), are unclear.  The plan for this unauthorised arrangement 

included twice-weekly visits, announced and unannounced, as a way of 

monitoring the risk to R.  The records do not say whether these visits 

happened. 

• Generally, minutes of meetings, including LAC Reviews, were not uploaded 

onto CareFirst in a timely way.  This meant that, in the absence of the 

                                                 
12

 London Borough of Southwark Safeguarding Children Board: Child P:  An Overview of Services 

Provided,  Smith F, July 2013 (unpublished report)  

13
 Where a Child Looked After is placed in the area of another local authority (regardless of the type 

of placement), the Arrangements for Placement of Children (General) Regulations 1991 (Regulation 5) 

requires that notification is made by the placing authority to the local authority's children's social care 

service where the child is living. (The education service and the relevant health trust for the area in 

which the Child Looked After is placed must also be notified.) The notification will include the address 

where the child is placed. 

 

33



30 

 

allocated SW or manager, there was insufficient up-to-date ‘guiding’ 

information for anyone needing to know about or take action in this case. 

(The CSC representative on the Review Panel could not comment on whether 

this was individual weak practice, or more widely the case in the service.)   

• There are no written transfer summaries, a real problem for the different 

social workers who took on R’s case.  The case review of Child P (2013) 

recommended that  

 

‘The extent to which case transfers are informed by a written handover and 

briefing requires monitoring, if necessary by means of amending existing case 

audits schedules’. (Recommendation 4, p.51) 

  

Learning Point 

 

Children and families cases will inevitably transfer to a number of 

different social workers and managers over time.  For their work to be 

effective, case records need to include a genogram, an up-to-date 

chronology and a transfer summary.   

 

Recommendation 12:  

 

The CSC case audit template used by the QA team should include 

questions about compliance with the departmental requirements for 

genograms, chronologies and transfer summaries.  The quality of 

transfer summaries should be monitored.  

 

 

5.14.5 Problems in transferring information between schools 

 

The author of the IMR for Education comments on the ‘lack of effective systems 

to document and track the transfer of school files’.  R’s moves of schools (she 

attended three schools during the case review period) revealed various problems 

in transfer of information.  School 1 say that they sent R’s education and CP files 

to School 2 (outside London), who never received these.  School 2 did not 

provide transfer information to School 3.  However, the ‘missing’ files from 

School 1 eventually turned up in School 3, without material about the 

intervening two terms in the shire county. 

 

The IMR author for Education has done everything possible to try to find out 

about how R’s files went astray, without success. 

 

Learning Point 

 

The systems for sharing and transferring information about a looked-

after child who moves schools do not always operate in a transparent 

and timely way. 

 

34



31 

 

Recommendation 13: 

The Director of Education and education team managers should agree 

and then implement a protocol in relation to the transfer between 

schools of Looked After Children's education records to ensure that a 

robust, well tracked procedure is in place across all Southwark 

schools. The protocol should include a clear line of communication 

and escalation should information not be received in a timely manner 

by the admitting school. Ideally transition meetings between 

professionals from the outgoing and the new school should be built 

into the process to ensure that learning and support needs are shared 

prior to the child joining the new school. 

 

 

5.14.6 Missing from Care procedures were not followed  

 

No Missing from Care Strategy Meetings were held during the two-year period of 

this case review.  The required ‘return interviews’ were carried out by R’s social 

workers when she lived in Southwark, but these did not continue when she 

moved out of borough.  These issues are explored below, from Para 5.16 

onwards.  

 

G.  How well did professionals understand and manage the different risk factors 

influencing this case and the particular vulnerabilities of R, during the two 

years under review?  

and 

H.  Review of the application and use of children missing from home and care 

protocol 

 

5.15 Understanding of R’s particular vulnerabilities 

The first point, remade here, refers back to the initial question in the Terms of 

Reference (Paras 5.1-5.6): Was previous relevant information or history about the 

child and/or family members known and taken into account in professionals’ 

assessment, planning and decision-making? Because this was not the case, those 

involved with R had a limited understanding of the degree and nature of her 

vulnerability.   

R was undoubtedly affected by her troubled personal history, contributing to her 

lack of secure attachments, mistrust of those in authority, and a weak sense of 

her own worth.  All these underlie her vulnerability, which was heightened when 

she was missing from care, and her whereabouts and her activities were not 

known.  Sadly, she has for some time been resistant to the idea of therapeutic 

help regarding her childhood experiences.  Better engagement by CSC with the 

Children’s Charity (where there was early on a very strong attachment from R) 

might have allowed the LA to build on R’s positive relationship with the workers 

there in order to facilitate R’s agreement to therapeutic help. 

35



32 

 

There has been little apparent awareness of R’s risk of sexual exploitation when 

missing, despite her previous sexualised behaviour and the concerns this raised 

at the time.   

 

5.16 Missing from care episodes 

5.16.1 Southwark Safeguarding Children Board has a multi-agency Missing from Care 

policy (2012), which is being updated in response to the Metropolitan Police’s 

pan-London protocol, 2014
14

.  The current policy covers good practice in relation 

to reporting missing episodes; the role of carers, CSC and Police in responding to 

the return of a missing child/YP; the guidance given to children at risk of going 

missing; and the maintenance of an updated risk assessment for each child/YP. 

 The section below addresses how well this policy has been followed in relation to 

R.  What is clear is that she has received consistent advice about keeping herself 

safe, from her carers and other the Independent Fostering Agency staff, her 

social workers, police officers, her Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO), and staff 

at the Children’s Charity.  Arrangements were in place to transport her safely
15

 to 

the evening group she attended back in Southwark on a week-end night (though, 

oddly, not home again afterwards; this has now been rectified).   

5.16.2 During the two years under review, R’s patterns of going missing from care 

varied considerably.  From early 2012 until her move away from London, she was 

regularly outside the care and control of her foster carers.  She frequently 

returned to her placement very late, or was missing overnight (or longer).  There 

was some evidence of potential CSE (R having unexplained amounts of money, 

being ‘dropped off by an older man’).   

Police responded to all incidents as required – by visiting R and speaking with 

her, and also by creating a Merlin report for CSC.  

 However, records from this period suggest that Southwark’s Missing from Care 

Protocol
16

 was not being followed in other respects, and this omission was noted 

in a ‘High Risk Case Meeting’ held in June 2012.  The required strategy meetings 

were not being held, and return interviews by a social worker
17

 were not being 

carried out consistently, especially when R moved out of borough.  The LA was 

reminded that a strategy meeting is required when a looked-after child is missing 

for more than 24 hours, and should be considered when there is an on-going 

pattern of shorter ‘missing’ events. 

 

5.16.3 R’s foster carer (from April 2013 onwards) regularly notified the Police when R 

was missing.  Police records show that they produced Merlin reports and carried 

out return interviews on every occasion, apart from a handful when they were 

                                                 
14

 Pan-London Child Sexual Exploitation Operating Protocol, Metropolitan Police, February 2014 
15

 Ladycabs, a taxi firm using female drivers, are routinely used in such instances. 
16

 Southwark Safeguarding Children Board – Multi-agency Protocol for children missing from home 

and care, January 2012, Para 8.2 
17

 An independent organisation has recently been contracted to provide this service – see below, Para 

5.16.5.   

36



33 

 

informed that she had returned within a few minutes of having being reported as 

missing (out later than her required time of return)
18

, and the record of the 

report had not yet been formalised.  

What was routinely missing was the second, independent Return Interview by 

the young person’s social worker, which is designed to provide a more in-depth 

picture of the missing episode and levels of risk, as well as giving an opportunity 

to offer support and guidance to the young person.   

In some instances for R, this was conducted by a dedicated worker from 

Independent Fostering Agency, where this service has been developed (see Para 

5.16.6 below).  

 

Major resource implications for Police 

The growing incidence of missing episodes – locally, across London and nationally 

– has major resource implications for the Police.  In the case of R alone, there 

were 20 missing episodes reported between 2010 and 2012; during the review 

period, there were a further 33 reports, all of which required a police response.   

Considering the numbers of looked-after children in Southwark alone, as well as 

around London and across the country, this is a major burden in terms of 

capacity for Police, not least because it may often involve officers at night when 

there are other pressing matters to be dealt with.  

5.16.4 In August 2012, R was away from her placement for 5 weeks and staying with 

her mother.  This situation was minimally assessed, with a Police check, not from 

the usual source of CAIT, about the household where Mother and R were staying.  

This provided a less rigorous and in fact misleading account of potential risks, 

given Mother’s past police record and the findings in the Care Proceedings the 

previous year.  There was no risk assessment completed for R.  Guidance for such 

an assessment is given in Appendix 4 of the Missing from Care Protocol.  

5.16.5 There followed the placement outside London, when, with one brief 

exception, R did not go missing for 8 months.  Her school attendance was very 

good and she settled well with the foster family. 

In April 2013, R suddenly absconded for a week, communicating by text with her 

carers that she was staying with her mother.  R was visited (a welfare check) by 

Police who found her to be safe and well.  R was also seen in the local Southwark 

CSC office once during this period, when she was advised to return to placement.  

She was not visited at home by a SW, nor was there a ‘return interview’ by a SW 

upon her return to placement.  Was this because she was not seen as ‘missing’? 

As before, there was no risk assessment of the care Mother was providing, or 

indeed whether R was actually staying with her mother most or all of her time.  

(In fact, R absconded from her mother’s home for 24 hours during this week, and 

the records state that ‘no one is aware of her whereabouts’ – CSC files.) 

                                                 
18

 Agreeing definitions of ‘missing’ and ‘absent’, and the respective roles and expectations of different 

services should be clarified within the local Missing from Care protocol.      

37



34 

 

The current Southwark Missing from Care policy describes who should carry out 

Return Interviews (‘an independent person…who is able to build up trust with 

the young person’
19

).   

Recent change: Southwark CSC has just commissioned this service, commencing 

1
st

 October 2014, from St. Christopher’s, a voluntary organisation experienced in 

working with young people in this area.   

5.16.6 In R’s next (current) placement, in the 12 months to the end of April 2014, she 

stayed away overnight 11 times, and was away for 2 days on one occasion. The 

management of these episodes has included an agreed rule about reporting R 

missing (‘when she is 10 minutes late home’).  This was based on her continued 

refusal to tell her carers or anyone else where she goes, and with whom, when 

she is absent from her placement.   

Her foster carers reported her missing scrupulously, and Police carried out 

welfare visits when she was returned (and sometimes telephone ‘debriefs’ with 

her while she was missing).   

As already stated, return interviews have not been consistently undertaken by 

the local authority Social Workers.  The Independent Fostering Agency uses a 

specialist worker on a regular basis to conduct these, and two members of their 

staff have offered this service to R and made a good connection with her.  

However, the Independent Fostering Agency have not viewed this as a substitute 

for the local authority’s responsibility to conduct such interviews.   

5.17 Assumptions made 

The Learning Event highlighted what had already been suggested in the IMRs, 

which was a belief that ‘R wasn’t really missing’.  For one thing, her behaviour 

was in many ways typical of most teen-agers, who want more independence and 

who are not always obedient to their parents’ wishes.  In R’s case, the lower 

sense of risk seems to have been because a) she always (almost always) returned 

to her placement; b) she kept in communication with her carers (usually) ; and c) 

she had a plausible and consistent story about where she was – either with her 

mother or with friends.  But these stories were not verifiable, and none of these 

circumstances meant that R was known to be safe.    

There are two other flaws in the assumptions about what was happening to R 

when she was absent from her placement:    

• Information about Mother and her care of R described a poor relationship 

and abusive and neglectful care.  R was at risk of exposure to criminality 

relating to drug-dealing.  There should not have been an assumption that 

Mother could act as a safe carer in a safe household.      

• R’s friends were not identified, so it was not known where she was 

staying and in what circumstances. 

                                                 
19

 Southwark multi-agency protocol for children missing from home and care, Southwark 

Safeguarding Children Board, January 2012 

 

38



35 

 

Various partners, including the Police and possibly foster carers, may take a 

different view of risks, depending on what they have been told about the child’s 

likely whereabouts.  The Review Panel were told that Police may see a child as 

lower risk if they go missing a lot, but also regularly return to placement.  These  

different views need to be discussed in a multi-agency forum in order to be 

shared and challenged – especially in the light of increased understanding (e.g., 

from the Rotherham Inquiry
20

) of the risks for looked-after children who are 

regularly away from placements late at night or overnight, as was true for R.  

 

5.18 Lack of risk assessments and Strategy Meetings 

Perhaps partially as a result of the assumptions above, the required ‘Missing 

from Care’ Strategy Meetings were never held, and an up-to-date risk 

assessment regarding Missing from Care was not placed on R’s file. (A similar 

failure was identified in the case review of Child P
21

, where missing episodes 

were not recorded on CareFirst.) This seems an extraordinary omission, given the 

frequency of R’s time away from placement (either coming home very late, or 

staying out overnight), and her degree of vulnerability.  It seems that each 

incident was regarded in isolation, and the pattern of going missing was not 

understood and evaluated by the network.    

LAC Reviews discussed R’s time out of placements, and the IRO recorded that her 

‘frequent unplanned contact with Mother and grandmother was a cause for 

concern’; but this did not lead to a risk assessment of the contact or any other 

related action.  The reasons for this are not known, apart from the (already 

outlined) lack of capacity in the LAC Team.  

When R was still placed in Southwark (2012) and when concerns about CSE were 

emerging, a referral was made for her to be discussed at the Multi-Agency Sexual 

Exploitation (MASE) Panel.  This was turned down because at that time, a case 

without a named perpetrator would not be considered.  The Review Panel has 

learned that the way the MASE operates has been altered, in response to the 

Metropolitan Police Operating Protocol, 2014.  There are now two levels of this 

structure: a multi-agency strategic group, and a multi-agency panel which will 

continue the work of the previous group.  The remit of the latter panel is being 

revised to include general concerns and patterns suggesting risk to children like 

R, even though there may be at that point no suspected perpetrator.  

The Southwark Missing from Care Protocol provides a very helpful template for 

both independent return interviews and risk assessments, both of which are part 

of the process of safeguarding vulnerable young persons. 

 

 

 

                                                 
20

 Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham, 1997-2013, Professor Alexis Jay, 

August 2014, Para 6.37  
21

 Para 7.3.3 

39



36 

 

Learning Point 

Children missing from care are at greater risk of sexual exploitation, not 

only because of being outside of (corporate) parental control, but also 

because of the power and reach of social media. 

Recommendation 14: 

Every looked-after child should have an up-to-date ‘missing from care’ 

risk assessment on their CSC file.   Carers, CSC and Police should 

contribute to this, as appropriate, and it should be shared within the 

LAC Review group and any other key safeguarding partners involved 

with the child.    

Recommendation 15: 

In particular, high priority should be given to making sure that there is a 

risk assessment on the file of every child at risk of sexual exploitation. 

(This recommendation is taken from the Rotherham Inquiry) 

Recommendation 16: 

The internal CSC audit and the SSCB multi-agency audit should include a 

question about compliance with Missing from Care procedures for 

every looked-after child.  

 

5.19 How the incident of alleged rape was dealt with 

5.19.1 The Review Panel for this SCR were initially gravely concerned about how R 

was dealt with by the Police, on the second night after her alleged rape.  The 

Police IMR has been helpful in explaining the Police’s assessment of risk and why 

they decided to use Police Powers of Protection:  

• R had decided not to cooperate further with the police investigation (possibly 

because of threats from the alleged perpetrator, with whom she was known 

to be in contact). 

• She continued to leave her foster placement and refused to let her carers 

know where she was going.  This was at a time when the alleged perpetrator 

was still at large and was believed to be intimidating R as a witness, and to 

offer further risks to her safety.  She was in contact with him. 

• In these circumstances, the foster home was not deemed to be a secure 

placement for her.  

The Police IMR author sets all this out clearly and takes the view that the 

protective actions were correct.  However, the use of the police station (not the 

initial intention of the police) overnight was in his view not appropriate.   

He makes no recommendation about this.  The Review Panel have discussed the 

impasse which arose between Police, who were asking for a different placement 

to keep R safely on this night, and the local authority refusing either to place her 

in Secure Accommodation or any other unit.  It was their view that she had a 

perfectly good placement to which she could be returned.   

40



37 

 

This is a situation which is likely to occur again, and these agencies need to 

consider how disagreements about high risk young persons can be mediated and 

dealt with in a child-focused way.  

A concern from the Review Panel: was R dealt with differently because she was a 

looked-after child, rather than someone living with her own parents?   

 

Learning Point 

There are potential tensions between Police and Children’s Social Care, 

regarding their respective roles and responsibilities in relation to a 

looked-after child at high risk of harm.  This can result, as in this case, in 

an impasse and an outcome which is not appropriate for the child, even 

in the short-term.  

Recommendation 17:   

The relevant senior managers from Police and CSC should explore the 

options for keeping children and young people safe in emergency 

situations, in particular considering how differences between agencies 

about appropriate placement can be resolved.    

It may be useful to use case studies to illustrate the most contentious 

and complex situations, and how they might be handled.     

 

5.20 Looked-after children and the risk of CSE  

5.20.1 The known link between going missing from care and CSE is highlighted in 

much research evidence and key reports.  For example, Barnardo’s 2012 report 

about the risk of CSE provides a list of ‘Key indications of vulnerability (to CSE)’ 
22

.  

First on its list is ‘Going missing for periods of time or regularly returning home 

late’. (p.5) 

This link has provided a focus for this SCR, and was already a priority for the work 

of the SSCB.  In August 2014, the Rotherham Inquiry was published, giving an 

abundance of useful data and analysis, not only about the cases in that area, but 

more generally about the risks of CSE to young girls who go missing from care.  

This will add to the learning from this SCR and support the work of the SSCB in 

this challenging area of safeguarding.   

5.20.2 In early 2013, based on the outcomes of seven earlier Management Overview 

Reports, Southwark Safeguarding Children Board identified three priority areas 

for strategic development: 

• Safeguarding of adolescents and older children 

• Safeguarding issues pertinent to looked-after children 

• System-wide understanding and practice regarding sexual exploitation 

and abuse of young people. 

                                                 
22

 Cutting them Free: How is the UK progressing in protecting its children from sexual exploitation?, 

Barnardo’s Policy, Research and Media, January 2012 

41



38 

 

The Reports clearly pointed to the greater vulnerability of looked-after children, 

compared with their adolescent peers: a message which is significant in the case 

of R, and needs to be further disseminated regarding the cohort of Southwark’s 

adolescents in care.  The link between going missing and risk of CSE needs to be 

embedded in the thinking and practice of staff at all levels, including front-line 

practitioners,  who are working with looked-after children aged 10 and upwards.  

5.20.3 In September 2013, the SSCB produced a comprehensive review of data, both 

locally and nationally, to inform their safeguarding work in relation to CSE.  The 

links with ‘going missing from care’ were very clear – both within Southwark and 

elsewhere:  

• Numbers of LAC going missing for over 24 hours was up 36% in 2012/13, 

compared to the previous year. (However, this rise has now been wholly 

attributed to a different way of recording missing episodes.  The number of 

LAC going missing has remained steady for the past two years.)   

• The amount of time spent missing, by the same cohort, rose by 100%. 

• Over 80% of missing episodes were among children placed out of borough. 

An audit of 5 young women (LAC) who were believed to be at risk of CSE found 

that, like R, the majority had experienced multiple placements, including out of 

borough.  Again like R, the majority had been removed from families at a late 

stage, after on-going histories of neglect.   

As we become more aware nationally of the nature of such ‘familiar stories’, a 

more pro-active and protective response should be adopted at a strategic level – 

across the local safeguarding children network – to reduce the risk to this group.      

Work already commenced 

The Review Panel were told that the SSCB is considering and responding to the 

recommendations of the Rotherham Inquiry, including Recommendation 3, 

which suggests that 

‘Managers should develop a more strategic approach to protecting looked 

after children who are sexually exploited. This must include the use of out-of-

area placements.’ 

The SSCR are using the ‘See Me, Hear Me’
23

 principles and framework for 

protecting children from CSE to guide the work in this priority area for the SSCB.  

  

I. How well did professionals hear the voice of the child in their work with R?  And 

to what extent were her unique diversity needs met by services? 

5.21 Professionals have tried to listen and respond to R’s wishes and feelings, whilst 

needing to balance these with their responsibility to make decisions which 

support her and protect her from harm. This has not been a straightforward task, 

for a number of reasons: R was not always consistent in her stated wishes and 

feelings 

                                                 
23

 Office of the Children’s Commissioner’s Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in Gangs and Groups, 

Final Report, November 2013 

42



39 

 

(e.g., about contact with her mother, or returning to live with her mother), and 

she has been reluctant to talk at any length about these.  This has limited her 

input into her LAC Reviews, which have generally heard from adults rather than 

from R.  Nonetheless, the LA and partners have continued to fulfil their corporate 

parental duty to her, in the following ways:   

• R’s links to her family are clearly important, and the LA has consistently tried 

to arrange for safe contact between R and her mother, grandmother and 

siblings. 

• R’s wish to live nearer to her mother was supported by the Judge who made 

the Recovery Order, and by R’s IRO.  R’s move to her current placement was 

also noted to be a better match for R, providing a greater degree of diversity 

than the shire county where she was previously placed.  (But it remains less 

diverse and less like ‘home’ than Southwark, where R, until recently, 

continued to return on a regular basis.)  

• R’s links with her familiar area of inner London have been supported by safe 

arrangements (taxis) for her to attend the Children’s Charity  weekly. 

• R’s experiences of bullying – in all three of her secondary schools – have been 

addressed by the schools and carers, and she has been enabled to attend and 

achieve well.  

 5.22 As has been noted elsewhere, there were gaps in the SW service offered to R, 

largely but not entirely related to sickness and lack of capacity in the LAC team.  

R is an adolescent who was already unlikely to trust those in authority over her, 

and who has had a sequence of changing social workers, then some who did not 

visit her consistently, and some who were slow to follow up on actions agreed on 

her behalf (e.g., a referral for extra maths tuition, which took several months to 

progress).  In these circumstances, R has remained disappointed and resistant to 

communicating with professionals within CSC.  

 The Review Panel have speculated that, had R had the same SW from the time 

she came into care aged 10, this relationship might have flourished and allowed 

R to trust and tell her wishes and feelings.  Sadly, the turnover in the SW 

workforce has not allowed for this to happen.  

R’s most recent SW was chosen because of her noted ability to ‘get through’ to 

young people; in addition, she is a black woman like R (as is R’s IRO).  She has 

sought the advice of CAMHS colleagues to help her develop the relationship, and 

has been advised to persist in offering R an attentive and reliable service – even 

though rebuffed.  This has so far not succeeded, but it is regarded as the best 

way to demonstrate the role of a responsible parent: one who does not give up 

on the child, but who sometimes has to take decisions which the child doesn’t 

like.  

5.23 Like all young people, R would benefit from a trusted and consistent adult 

whom she can tell her wishes and feelings.  

 

 

43



40 

 

This role has been slowly and painstakingly developed by her current foster 

carers, especially the main (male) carer.  They have worked hard to build a 

relationship with R, based on trust and – very slowly – on her willingness to give 

more information about her time spent out of the home.  This remains a work in 

progress. 

 Other workers, from the Independent Fostering Agency and from the Children’s 

Charity, have described R’s willingness to talk to them more freely than to her 

SW.  This may suggest that she naturally views these private or voluntary 

agencies differently from the LA, with its unwelcome authority over her.  In 

particular, the Education Advisor/Special Project Consultant  from the 

Independent Fostering Agency has made a good professional link with R, within 

which messages about her self-worth, welfare and safety can be conveyed.  

However, it remains the case that R does not readily share her wishes and 

feelings with the adults in her life.  In this, she is no different from many 

adolescents living with their own families, who only confide in their peer group.  

5.24 Professionals who attended the Learning Event for this review speculated about 

whether social workers tended to have more skills and confidence for working 

with the birth-to-12 year age range, than with resistant teen-agers.  It was 

suggested that a ‘tool kit’ would be helpful for trying to engage with adolescents.  

5.24 The consideration of R’s identity and her ‘unique diversity needs’ has not been 

clearly recorded in her LAC Reviews, or elsewhere, apart from the 

acknowledgement that the diversity of the London area provides a more suitable 

environment for her placement.  But it is clear that the LA has tried to match 

black carers and workers with R. 

R’s first five placements were local (Southwark) and were a racial match for her.  

Unfortunately, the last two of this series of placements were with very elderly 

carers who struggled to work with R, who at that time was increasingly troubled 

and disruptive – and was spending more and more time out of the placement.  

The choice of these last two placements was quite likely to have been because 

they were ‘the only ones available’.  This is a real resource issue, common to all 

inner-London authorities.   

5.25 R’s last two placements have been with white carers, and she herself has 

expressed her preference for a trans-racial placement.  Her last two SWs, on the 

other hand, and her IRO are all black women.  Thus, the local authority has tried 

to ensure R’s heritage is reflected by those representing her corporate parent.   

 

J.   Review of the application and use of the e-safety policy in this case 

5.26 The sources and means of possible CSE have expanded hugely as a result of the 

technological revolution in social media.  This worldwide phenomenon shows no 

signs of slowing, and it undoubtedly leaves many adults – professionals included 

– far behind in their awareness and understanding of increased risks for children 

and young people.   

44



41 

 

Barnardo’s ‘Cutting them free’ report describes why those in positions of care 

towards young people – including all parents – need to be concerned about the 

role of technology in exploitation.  The following passage describes their 

experience in this field:  

Exploited young people and children are typically abused in person, but 

sexual exploitation also takes place over the internet, through mobile phones, 

online gaming and instant messaging. This is not surprising given how central 

technology is now to young people’s lives, and the issue has long been a 

major concern for our services. However, the services reported that the scale 

of online and mobile abuse has markedly increased even since 2010. Almost 

all services reported it as an increasing priority, and some have identified that 

the majority of their service users were initially groomed via social networking 

sites and mobile technology. 

…Young people, parents/carers and professionals need to be more aware of 

how such technology can be used by abusers. (p.7) 

5.27 It has been very hard to comment about the application of an e-safety policy in 

this case.  We do not know its specific relevance in relation to the trigger incident 

for this case review.  This is because the circumstances leading to the alleged 

attack on R remain unknown, and R is unwilling to say any more about this 

matter.  She has previously stated that the man contacted her on her mobile 

telephone, the day before they met, and that a ‘friend’ of hers had given him her 

mobile telephone number.   

 Police have been unable to uncover any communication between R and the man 

online, or any evidence of a process of grooming. 

5.28 R’s foster carers have put in place sensible precautions regarding her use of 

mobile phone and the internet.  Her phone is on a contract which allows 

professionals to track calls when necessary (as in the recent incident); and her 

oyster card also enabled them to see where she was travelling.   R’s telephone is 

not allowed in her bedroom at night, but is left in the kitchen of the foster home.   

These actions are in line with the guidelines in the Independent Fostering Agency 

e-safety policy. 

 Those responsible for R are aware of the power and lure of the internet and 

social media more generally, and have talked to R about the risks arising from 

these.  As for all young people, it is impossible to know whether, how and when 

R continues to use the internet, and potentially to place herself at risk of harm, 

especially from CSE.  

  

 

 

45



42 

 

Learning Point 

The power and lure of electronic social media carry a risk of harm, 

particularly to vulnerable young people, which cannot be removed by 

professionals working with these young people.   

Recommendation 18: 

The SSCB should co-ordinate the e-safety ‘statement of principles’ 

across the local safeguarding children partnership.  These should 

focus on supporting and educating young people to keep themselves 

safe.  

 

6.  Conclusion 
 

6.1 R is a young person in care who has struggled with the status of being ‘looked 

after’.  She entered care as an older child, with a complex history which included 

neglect and abuse by her parent, and which left her with powerful feelings of 

rejection and blame by her family.  She went on to have a series of 10 different 

social workers and 7 placements – a difficult and increasingly unsatisfactory 

experience of being looked-after and cared about, which would only further 

diminish her sense of self-worth.   

 

6.2 R is like most other teenagers in many aspects of her behaviour, wishes and 

feelings: the importance of her peer group of friends, her mistrust of adults and 

her desire to push boundaries.  These make it hard for parents and carers 

generally to keep their adolescents safe and to know what is happening with 

them.  But R is also different, and more vulnerable, because of her earlier 

traumatic experiences and her number of moves in care.  She continues to suffer 

from the loss of her family, including her siblings, and misses the closeness of 

friends in her home area.  

 

6.3 This case review has found that the professionals responsible for R’s care as a 

looked-after child have not had a sufficient understanding of her history and of 

her level of vulnerability – a vulnerability which continues to expose her to 

significant risk of harm, especially when she is missing.  One consequence has 

been a lack of alertness by these professionals about the risk associated with R’s 

patterns of going missing.  It seems R was often regarded as ‘not really missing’, 

because she was believed to be visiting her mother or staying out with friends.  

These stories were perhaps usually true, but the reality was that no one in CSC 

really knew where R was for most of the times she was missing.  This meant they 

could not know that she was safe.   

 

6.4 The Review Panel has explored the explanations for the inconsistent service by 

CSC to R, and why Missing from Care procedures were not followed.  

 

46



43 

 

The principal reason given is that the team in which R’s case was held underwent 

a period of many months when both SW staff and managers were off sick, and 

the work of the team suffered as a result. There were periods of time when R 

was not visited at the required frequency.  Partnership work was neglected, and 

communication across agencies suffered from there being no multi-agency 

forum for sharing vital information and concerns about R.   

 

These omissions, and their consequences, should have been picked up by more 

senior managers, and one of the main messages of this report is that 

organisations must anticipate and plan for periods of serious weakness in parts 

of their service.  Other agencies, when they experience the lack of partnership 

working and the response to their concerns, should more readily and positively 

use escalation procedures, in order to achieve a better service to the child.   

 

6.5 The major issues of safety for children and young people raised in this case 

review have been highlighted on the national stage in the past two years.  As a 

result, there is a renewed focus on children missing from care, linked to a much 

keener awareness of the risks of CSE, especially for looked-after children and 

even more so for LAC placed away from their home area.  In Southwark, the 

emerging lessons will hopefully be reflected not only in a better handling of the 

risks for R, but for all adolescents in their care. The LA and partners need to work 

together to help these young people develop the appropriate tools to protect 

themselves, and to offer non-punitive responses when they return home.  Sadly, 

no parent, corporate or otherwise, can achieve this without the young person’s 

engagement and their wish to keep themselves safe.    

 

6.6 In R’s case, it is encouraging that she now appears to have found a home where 

she would like to stay until she is 18, and carers to whom she can attach and 

trust.  Schooling continues to be very important to her, and her attendance is 

excellent.  These are the building blocks which may allow for a better 

understanding of recent events for R, and therefore further means to increase 

her safety in future.    

 

The professionals involved in her care have participated very positively in this 

SCR and by doing so will have already changed their perception and 

understanding of the issues of going missing from care and risk of CSE.  More 

widely, it is hoped that the lessons from this SCR will contribute to the SSCB’s 

learning and improvement in its priority areas for safeguarding adolescents and 

older children, including the children for whom the local authority is the 

corporate parent. 

  

47



44 

 

                                                  REFERENCES  

 
 

Berelowitz, S., Clifton, J., Firimin, C. MBE, Gulyurtlu, Dr. S., Edwards, G., ‘If only 

someone had listened’, Office of the Children’s Commissioner’s Inquiry into Child 

Sexual Exploitation in Gangs and Groups, Final Report, November 2013 (This report 

includes the ‘See me, hear me’ material.) 

 

Cutting them Free: How is the UK progressing in protecting its children from sexual 

exploitation?, Barnardo’s Policy, Research and Media, January 2012 

 

Jay, Professor A. OBE, Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation in 

Rotherham, 1997-2013, August 2014 

 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations, DfE, 2006 

 

London Borough of Southwark Safeguarding Children Board: Child P,  An Overview of 

Services Provided,  Smith F ,  2013 (unpublished report) 

 

Multi-agency Protocol for children missing from home and care, Southwark 

Safeguarding Children Board, January 2012 

 

Pan-London Child Sexual Exploitation Operating Protocol, Metropolitan Police, 

February 2014 

 

Protecting Children in Wales – Guidance for Arrangements for Multi-Agency Child 

Practice Reviews, The Welsh Government, January 2013  

 

Working Together to Safeguard Children, DfE, 2013 (and previous editions) 

 
 

 

 

   

48



45 

 

GLOSSARY 

 
Cafcass Children and Family Court Advisory and Support 

Service 

CareFirst Electronic recording system for Southwark CSC 

CP  Child Protection 

CSC Children’s Social Care 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 

DCS Director of Children’s Services 

DfE Department for Education  

GSTFT Guy’s and St. Thomas’s NHS Foundation Trust 

IFA Independent Fostering Agency (operating as a 

profit-making business) 

IMR Individual Management Reviews (for a Serious Case 

Review)  

IRO  Independent Reviewing Officer (for looked-after 

children) 

IRO Handbook Statutory guidance for independent reviewing  

officers and local authorities on their functions in 

relation to case management and review of looked-

after children (DfE) 

LA Local Authority 

LAC Looked-after child 

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board 

MASE Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation Panel 

NHS National Health Service 

PEP Personal Education Plan 

School 1 

School 2 

School 3 

In Southwark 

In shire county 

In Greater London 

SCR Serious Case Review  

SSCB Southwark Safeguarding Children Board 

SW Social Worker 

TM Team Manager 

YP Young person 

49



46 

 

Appendix 1: Terms of Reference 
 
 
Re:  Serious Case Review – Child R 
 

Southwark Safeguarding Children Board has decided to undertake a serious case 
review following a serious incident affecting Child R aged 15 years old.  The review 
was agreed under guidelines within Working Together (2013) and regulation 5 of the 
Safeguarding Children Board Regulations 2006. 
 
Reason for the serious case review 
  
Child R alleged she was held at a hotel by an unidentified male. 
 
On Sunday 16th March Child R reportedly agreed to meet with friends she had met 
via the Children’s Charity. She returned late to her placement which she said was 
due to losing her phone. She then returned to SE London on Monday 17th March to 
retrieve the phone. She did not go to school on the Monday and did not return to the 
placement and was reported missing. On the phone she informed her carer that she 
was being held at a hotel by an unidentified male. The police were informed and via 
mobile phones Child R and the man were tracked. The male put Child R in a cab to 
return to placement. When she returned she disclosed to her carer that she had been 
raped.  
 
Child R was supported by her carer to disclose to police, provide forensics and 
attend Haven. She refused an ABE interview. 
 
A strategy Meeting was held on 20/3/14 at  a Sexual Exploitation Unit, linked to the 
Metropolitan Police. The police subsequently arrested a male, alleged perpetrator. 
He is said to have been on Bail for a similar offence. 
 
Child R is currently being supported in her foster placement.   
 
Family structure: 
 

Mother 35 London 
Father  May live abroad 
Subject 15 Foster placement  

Sibling 19 London 

Sibling 11 Foster care  
Sibling 8 Foster care 
Sibling 5 Foster care 

 
Family Background 
 

Child R and her family have settled in the country at different times.  Child R and her 
older sibling lived abroad until she was about 8 years old with the maternal 
grandmother.  At a later date maternal grandmother settled in the country.   

Southwark social care involvement with Child R and her siblings started in December 
2008, following receipt of a police notification stating that a member of the public had 
reported concerns about Child R’s older brother  drug running for his mother, and 
that she was dealing drugs and prostituting. This triggered an initial assessment. 

50



47 

 

During the assessment Child R made a disclosure that she repeatedly got hit by her 
mother with a mop and belt.  

She said she was treated differently to her siblings, and presented as sad and 
withdrawn. A subsequent medical examination found evidence of physical abuse 
including bruises and burns. 

Child R was subject of a Child Protection plan from 03/06/09 to 03/11/09 under the 
category of physical abuse.  

On 02/01/10, Child R presented herself at a care home saying she had been beaten 
by her mother, had packed and escaped out of a window. Following this she was 
accommodated with her mother’s consent on 4/01/10 under S20 CA 1989 

On 19/03/10 Child R was made the subject of an Interim Care Order CA 1989, 
‘following a series of events involving her mother, drugs, the police and her siblings.’  

She was made subject of a full Care order on 22/07/11.  

Her three youngest siblings are all currently in foster care. Her older brother was 
previously looked after.    

 

Care History 

Child R has had around 9 different foster placements since being in care. Her 
placement breakdowns were largely attributable to her behaviour – she has a history 
of returning late from school and going missing from care. In addition she has been 
reported in the past as being rude, disrespectful and occasionally intimidating to 
carers.  
 
Child R has been in her current placement, which is an Independent Foster 
placement, since 24/04/13.  She had to move from her previous placement following 
making an allegation that her previous carer had pushed her in placement. She then 
went missing from 12/04/13-19/04/13.  
 
In a Looked after review in March 2012 she was described as showing sexualised 
and gang-related behaviour in school.  
 
Child R has had regular supervised contact with her mother and grandmother. When 
she absconds she is often found at their home.  
 
 

Decision making by the SSCB 

The serious incident relating to Child R was discussed at a meeting of Southwark 
Safeguarding Children Board on 1st April 2014 and a decision was made to proceed 
with a Serious Case Review on the basis Child R was a Looked After Child who was 
‘seriously harmed and there is cause for concern as to the way in which the authority, 
board or partners or other relevant persons have worked together to safeguard the 
child.’   

This is specifically in understanding the management of Child R’s episodes of 
missing from her care placement. 

 

The purpose of the Serious Case Review (SCR) 

The purpose of the serious case review will be to cover the key areas of inquiry as 
set out in Working Together (2013) and to follow these principles and those of the 
Welsh model (2013) 

51



48 

 

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/121221guidanceen.pdf  
Electronic guidance for arrangements for multi agency practice reviews.  
 
This is  to identify improvements that may be needed and to consolidate areas of 
good practice.  Any findings from the review should be translated into programmes of 
action leading to sustainable improvements.  

 

The SCR should be conducted in a way which: 

• Recognises the complex circumstances in which professionals work together 
to safeguard children 

• Seeks to understand precisely who did what and the underlying reasons that 
led individuals and organisations to act as they did 

• Seeks to understand practice from the viewpoint of the individuals and 
organisations involved at the time rather than just using hindsight 

• Is transparent about the way data is collected and analysed and  

• Makes use of relevant research and case evidence to inform the findings 
 
The serious case review will:  

• Seek contributions to the review from Child R and appropriate family 
members and keep them informed of key aspects of progress 

• Produce a report for publication available to the public and an action plan 

 

The report will include an analysis of the following, including what happened and 
why: 

• Ascertain whether previous relevant information or history about the child 
and/or family members was known and taken into account in professionals' 
assessment, planning and decision-making in respect of the child, the family 
and their circumstances.  Establish how that knowledge contributed to the 
outcome for the child; 

• Evaluate whether the care plan was robust, and appropriate for Child R, the 
family and their circumstances; 

• Ascertain whether the plan was effectively implemented, monitored and 
reviewed and whether all agencies contributed appropriately to the 
development and delivery of the multi-agency plan; 

• Identify the aspects of the care plan that worked well and those that did not 
work well and why. Identify the degree to which agencies challenged each 
other regarding the effectiveness of the care plan, including progress against 
agreed outcomes for the child. An whether any  protocol for professional 
disagreement was invoked; 

• Establish whether the respective statutory duties of agencies working with the 
child and family were fulfilled; 

• Identify whether there were obstacles or difficulties in this case that prevented 
agencies from fulfilling their duties (this should include consideration of both 
organisational issues and other contextual issues). 

 

Further relevant questions in relation to this case 

1. How well did professional understand and manage the different risk factors 
influencing this case and the particular vulnerabilities of Child R, during the two 
years under review? 

52



49 

 

2. How well did professionals hear the voice of the child in our work with Child R? 
And to what extent were her unique diversity needs met by services? 

3. Review of the application and use of children missing from home and care 
protocol and  e-safety policy in this case 

 

Action required 

Relevant agencies to secure and check their records to see if they have any contact 
with Child R and her family, and inform the SSCB development manager. 

An independent management review should then be commissioned by senior 
management, based on a chronology and analysis of the agency’s involvement for 
agreement by the single agencies chief management team and submission to the 
SSCB serious case review group, within the agreed timescale. 

 

The Welsh model is a new methodology to this Board.  There is a need for a timeline 
(in this case for a period of two years before this incident) and a genogram.  Family 
history is important in this case and agencies are asked to review information from 
the time of their agencies involvement as a brief summary up to 01/02/2012, the 
beginning of the period under detailed review.  The focus on the preceding 2 years 
will help understand how this information was taken into account for current decision 
making.  The period in scope is 01/02/2012 to 27/03/2014.  It has been extended to 
the date of arrest of the alleged perpetrator following the traumatic incident.  For this 
final period, there will be a particular focus on whether the police support a protection 
and expectation that Child R attend school the following day was proportionate to the 
concerns raised.  The panels concern was that her post incident care was informed 
by her care status. 

The timeline should be submitted to Ann Flynn SSCB development manager by 23rd  
May 2014 

The agencies final agreed independent management review endorsed at Chief 
Officer level should be submitted to Ann Flynn SSCB development manager by 21st 
June 2014. 

 
Agencies that need to contribute to the review 
 

Independent Fostering Agency  
Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHs) 
Children’s Charity 
A Greater London Children’s Social Care 
Met Police 
Met Child Sexual Exploitation Unit Met police 
Southwark Children’s Social Care 
Southwark Education Department 
Southwark looked after children doctor  
 
Review panel and reviewers 
 
There will be a review panel managing the review process and will play a key role in 
ensuring understanding about the case. 
 
There will be two reviewers.  Both will take responsibility for scrutiny of the issues 
and one reviewer will take responsibility of completing the report. Working Together 
(2013) requires the SCR to be completed within six months and will be published. 
 

53



50 

 

 
Learning event 
 

At a later date there will be a learning event facilitated by the reviewers.  This event is 
planned for 8th September from 9.30 – 3 pm and further details will be advised at a 
later date.  The event will seek to engage differing levels of staff who worked with the 
family.  The purpose of the learning event will be to start the process of learning and 
improvement at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Final Report 
 

The date for completion of the final report will be by 31 October 2014 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54



51 

 

 
 
 

Appendix 2: Genogram 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

55



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Serious Case Review 

 

Child R 

 

 

SSCB Response  

 

 

Agreed By the SSCB February 2015 

Published July 2015 

 

 

56



 

The Southwark Safeguarding Children Board received the Serious Case review at a meeting 
dated 24 February 2015 and endorsed the findings of the review.  Further guidance was 
given at this meeting as to preparing the report for publication given the sensitivity of the 
issues and the report needed robust anonymisation to protect Child R   

A criminal investigation and court process have now concluded, in which the perpetrator was 
found guilty of a separate, lesser sexual offence against another young person.  The offence 
of rape against R remains untried, but is held on the man’s records as a not-guilty plea.   

Southwark Safeguarding Children Board and its partners have sought to learn from Child R’s 
experience.  This response should be read alongside the Serious Case review which gives 
fuller detail of the background in the two years leading up to the serious incident, the 
methodology of the review and its findings. 

The review found that no one could have predicted that this serious incident would have 
happened when it did. The review also found that the professionals responsible for R’s care 
as a looked-after child have not had a sufficient understanding of her history and of her level 
of vulnerability – a vulnerability which continues to expose her to significant risk of harm, 
especially when she is missing.  One consequence has been a lack of alertness by these 
professionals about the risk associated with R’s patterns of going missing in this period. 

Child R is a young person in care who has struggled with the status of being ‘looked after’.  
She entered care as an older child, with a complex history which included neglect and abuse 
by her parent, and which left her with powerful feelings of rejection and blame by her family.  
She went on to have a series of 10 different social workers and 7 placements – a difficult 
and increasingly unsatisfactory experience of being looked-after and cared about. 
 
The methodology of the review involved as many of the practitioners and their managers as 
possible in a ‘learning event’ where themes emerging from agency reports and chronologies 
were used as discussion and challenge points.  The event was based on a systems model 
and looked at whether the findings were unique to this case or could be used as a ‘window’ 
on the local child protection and care system.  The ‘learning event’ was well attended and 
the Board is grateful to the practitioners for their openness in the review process.  The 
process also sought to engage Child R and her mother although the family felt they could 
only be involved in a limited way. 
 
The Serious Case review identified eighteen learning points.  An action plan has been 
implemented to address these points. 
 
The learning points are highlighted below: 
 

1.  Knowledge of a child’s psycho-social history is essential for effective assessments 
and planning for children. 

 

2. In any agency, high turnover and sickness among workers and managers in a team 
carry the risk of loss of knowledge about cases and potential failure to carry out 
statutory duties.   

 

57



3. Many looked-after adolescents find it hard to trust and communicate with 
professionals who are tasked with planning for them, and helping to keep them safe 
– especially when their key worker changes frequently.   This can significantly 
constrain the ability of workers (and the local authority, as ‘corporate parents’) to 
respond to the young person’s wishes and feelings, and to meet their needs.  

 
4. Effective care planning for looked-after children requires input from all partners in the 

form of either attendance or appropriate reports for the LAC Review process. 
However, LAC Reviews, as smaller, child-centred meetings, do not provide a suitable 
forum for the full professional network of those who know about and are working with 
the child.  Thus, there may be no regular opportunity for this network to share 
significant information and concerns. 

 
5. In addition, the LA needs to ensure that foster carers and the professional network 

are given full and good information about the determined needs of the child and the 
current plans, as well as relevant history.  These actions can become more difficult 
for children placed out of borough.  

 
6. Partners in safeguarding networks continue to struggle about the timing and 

appropriate use of escalation procedures, often leaving unsatisfactory situations 
going on for too long. 

 
7. The choice, and timing, of local authority placements available for looked-after 

children does not always allow a matching of the child’s needs to the ability of the 
carers, especially for more complex and ‘hard to place’ adolescents.  

 
8. Children and families cases will inevitably transfer to a number of different social 

workers and managers over time.  For their work to be effective, case records need 
to include a genogram, an up-to-date chronology and a transfer summary.   

 
9. The systems for sharing and transferring information about a looked-after child who 

moves schools do not always operate in a transparent and timely way.   
 

10. Children missing from care are at greater risk of sexual exploitation, not only because 
of being outside of (corporate) parental control, but also because of the power and 
reach of social media. 

 

11. There are potential tensions between Police and Children’s Social Care, regarding 
their respective roles and responsibilities in relation to a looked-after child at high risk 
of harm.  This can result, as in this case, in an impasse and an outcome which is not 
appropriate for the child, even in the short-term.  
 
 

12. The power and lure of electronic social media carry a risk of harm, particularly to 
vulnerable young people, which cannot be removed by professionals working with 
these young people.   

 

 
In the period of the review agencies started to address the concerns they identified as part of 
the review process.  Notably Children’s Social Case has commissioned a service to offer 
return interviews to young people who are missing from care, research was commissioned to 
understand the barriers to young people who go missing from care returning back to their 

58



carer, health have increased their resources offered to looked after children, the CCG 
undertook a review of arrangements for looked after children’s services. 
 
The learning points have been shared in a cascade event with partner agencies and this will 
be repeated in September and in further cascade events later in the year. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

59



APPENDIX B 
SUPPORTING NARRATIVE FOR BUDGET PROPOSALS 

 
CHILDREN’S AND ADULTS’ SERVICES 

Overview 
 
Children’s and Adults’ Services deliver the core ‘people’ aspects of the council’s services to our 
293,530 residents – Education, Children’s Social Care and Adult Social Care. The department 
focuses on protecting our children and vulnerable residents, addressing inequalities and by 
working across the council and partnerships, ensuring that the many opportunities being created in 
Southwark are inclusive and accessible to the whole community. Our approach seeks to maximise 
good outcomes for residents by providing preventative and helpful universal services. 
 
With more than two thirds of the council’s budget, the department has a critical role to play in 
ensuring value for money. The reach of the department is extensive, effectively engaging with 
every family, and we work very closely with our partners including schools, the police, the NHS, the 
voluntary sector and employers. We are very fortunate to have a workforce of highly motivated, 
professional and resilient people who are deeply committed to Southwark and we are proud of the 
progress we have made on our journey thus far. By listening to the voice of children, young people, 
parents and our elders, we continually reflect on our approach and evolve our services to meet the 
changing needs of our community. 
 
Education 
 
The council is investing in children’s centres to help parents balance work and family life. Working 
with local early years providers who share our values and commitment to giving our children the 
best start in life, the council is investing in a significant increase in affordable childcare and 
community nurseries. 
 
With a large population of young people, Southwark has 5 nursery schools, 72 primary schools, 9 
special education schools and 17 secondary schools. Performance in our schools is excellent, with 
our results exceeding London and National performance. We are delivering more and better 
schools, to meet growing demand for school places and driving up standards across all our 
schools so that local schools can be schools of choice. Major investment by the council in our 
schools and a highly effective school improvement service support our young people to achieve 
their best potential and to benefit from the high quality education on offer in Southwark.  
 
The Southwark Schools Forum recognises that the emotional wellbeing of our children and young 
people has a direct impact on educational experience and achievement. Our schools appreciate 
the support available from our Early Help service, which includes child and adolescent mental 
health services. The council delivers this service directly into schools and the service will benefit 
from additional investment by schools and the NHS from 2016/17. 
 
Our post-16 offer includes a guarantee of education, employment or training for every Southwark 
school leaver, with 2,000 new apprenticeships and training places. Southwark also directly 
addresses affordability of higher education by providing scholarships to young people who would 
otherwise be unable to access this opportunity. 
 
Changes are proposed to Youth and Play services which seek to increase access to community 
facilities (including capital investment) and to improve the offer to young people and families across 
the borough. This will be supported by a continuing universal Youth and Play offer which will work 
with the strong Leisure offer already available across Southwark. The Youth Grants scheme 
supports some targeted work and the higher needs are met by our Youth Offending Service. 
Working with local community organisations such as sports groups, music groups, arts groups and 
scouts/guides we will be looking to support these groups with access to good community facilities 
so that they can increase the number of young people they reach and spend their funds on direct 
provision.  

60
Agenda Item 6



 
Southwark Council spends in excess of £24m on community and voluntary sector provision and 
going forward we will develop a strategy which aligns our community needs with the local offer of 
community and voluntary groups to ensure that residents benefit well from this investment. 
 
Children’s Social Care 
 
Southwark has traditionally had a high number of children in care and children looked after. 
Recently established programmes such as Families Matter and a practice model of intensive 
support for social workers are delivering good outcomes and Southwark is seeing a reduction in 
the number of children in care and a reduction in repeat referrals. This is very encouraging and has 
a direct impact on the life chances of our children, young people and parents. By synchronising 
support to families, including parental mental health, we are strengthening families and mitigating 
risk. The challenges are still significant but it is clear that the approach and range of services 
available across the borough are having a positive affect. 
 
The council is working very closely with the police and other partners to protect our children and 
young people from harm, including child sexual exploitation and gangs. This work is very 
challenging and demanding of our social workers and with the average career span of a children’s 
social worker in the UK now being just 7 years, retention of experienced social workers and 
recruitment of highly skilled and resilient social workers is critical. Southwark co-hosts London’s 
social work teaching partnership and our social work academy will invest significantly in our 
workforce to support them to undertake this most challenging of work on behalf of all of us. 
 
The council is investing in adoption and fostering to increase the opportunities for children and 
young people to be supported by loving and caring families. There is also a commitment to care 
leavers through options such as ‘staying put’ which enables young people to stay on with foster 
parents and to be supported with accommodation, education and support into employment. 
 
In recognition of the importance of this work and very encouraged by the impact the service is 
having on Southwark children, young people and families, it is proposed that the budget for 
Children’s Social Care be protected for the next three years. This will give stability to the service, 
allow for medium-term planning with our partners so that we can synchronise our support, and 
enable us to shift resources towards early help, prevention and edge of care services that we know 
have better outcomes for children and young people and are more cost effective. 
 
Adult Social Care 
 
Southwark has 24,000 residents aged 65 and over. Our projections indicate a significant increase 
in our older population going forward, not just because we are living longer thanks to advances in 
medicine and positive lifestyle choices but because increasingly older people are choosing to 
remain in borough, in their communities, rather than escaping to the country. 
 
Southwark is committed to becoming an Age Friendly Borough, supporting our elders and family 
carers well so that later life is enjoyable and that Southwark benefits from their contribution to 
community life. Increasingly older people are choosing to be supported at home or in extra care 
housing rather than care homes. Accessing personal budgets rather than traditional care services 
enables older people, and carers, to enjoy activities of their choosing and at times that work well 
for them. 
 
Southwark Council is investing in the local social care workforce through the Southwark Ethical 
Care Charter which is ensuring that home care workers are paid the London Living Wage, paid for 
travel time between calls and offered guaranteed hours contracts rather than zero hours contracts. 
 
Our services to people with learning disabilities and mental health needs are in need of 
transformation and need to deliver better value for money. Non-care elements of support packages 
(e.g. accommodation and overheads) will be reviewed by commissioners. The care elements of 
support packages will be reviewed by social workers and we will ensure that there is a better 

61



outcomes focus to the support we commission. Even after proposed changes, Southwark will still 
be a council that funds these services very well, in the top quartile of our comparator group. 
 
Working closely with the NHS, we will establish integrated community care services in the form of 
Local Care Networks and we will integrate our commissioning of care services with Southwark 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to ensure joined up services that make sense to people 
using the services and people working in them. 
 
Southwark NHS CCG is supporting Adult Social Care through the Better Care Fund which delivers 
system-wide benefits and through the fair application of Continuing Health Care. This is of direct 
benefit to local residents. 
 
Equalities Impact Summary 
 
Equalities impact screenings have been undertaken for each proposal. Consultations are 
underway for proposals relating to service changes, where appropriate. Impact is mitigated by 
alternative offers of services, support or personal budgets as per service user choice. Some of the 
services provided by Children’s and Adults’ Services are provided under legal duties on the council 
and are provided on the basis of eligibility – this is set down in national legislation and Government 
guidance. Other services are discretionary and universal. 
 
In line with our Public Sector Equality Duty, any changes to services arising from these proposals 
will be implemented in such a way so as to not impact disproportionately on any specific section or 
group in our community. The equality analyses have been collated across the department to look 
for any cumulative impacts and none have been identified. In line with the process across the 
council, information on equality analysis will be shared with decision-makers for consideration 
before any decisions are taken. 
 
Southwark Council’s Fairer Future Promises are reflected in the proposals set forth as is a shift 
upstream to prevention and early help, recognising the evidence base and the outcomes that can 
be achieved by offering our residents good universal services. 

62



 
SCHEDULES OF EFFICIENCIES, INCOME AND SAVINGS PROPOSALS FOR CHILDREN’S AND ADULTS’ SERVICES 

 
Division Ref Description 2016/17 

to 
2018/19 
£’000 

Efficiencies and improved use of resources 

Adult Social Care 1 Restructuring necessary to support updated commissioning and IT strategies  (2,000) 
Adult Social Care 2 Review of contracts to achieve best value and to ensure best practice. (5,000) 
Adult Social Care 3 Reorganisation of Adult Social Care to support modernisation of the service (1,000) 
Adult Social Care 4 Review of non direct care cost for people with learning disabilities to ensure that support is 

appropriate, in line with policy, best practice and value for money.  After completion of the review 
Southwark will remain a top quartile authority for expenditure. 

(7,500) 

Adult Social Care 5 Reconfiguration and reorganisation of Mental Health teams to support modernisation of the service. (2,000) 
Adult Social Care 6 Rationalisation of in house provider units (500) 
Education 7 Review of Pupil Access, Transport Admissions and Parent Partnership (95) 
Education 8 Review of support to School Improvement Team (50) 
Education 9 Reconfiguration of Early Help functions. (1,650) 
Adult Social Care 10 Review of Community Safety Partnership service  organisation structure  (55) 

Total efficiencies and improved use of resources (19,850) 

 

Income generation    

Adult Social Care 11 New Contributions Policy in line with Care Act, introduced October 2015. (3,000) 
Adult Social Care 12 NHS funding for health service aspects of care. (6,000) 
Adult Social Care 13 Better care Fund - Integration of Health and Social Care. (6,000) 
Education 14 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding for Home to School Transport. (800) 
Education 15 Increased DSG contribution for the Special Educational Needs service. (211) 
Education 16 DSG and NHS funding for Early Help Service. (1,044) 

Total income generation (17,055) 

 

Income generation    

Education 17 Reconfiguration of Youth and Play services, including transfer to Environment and Leisure 
Department 

(2,500) 

Total income generation (2,500) 

 
 

Total Children’s and Adult Services (39,405) 
 
 

63



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank 
 

64



 
 

EDUCATION & CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2015-16 
 
AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) 
 
NOTE: Original held by Scrutiny Team; all amendments/queries to Julie Timbrell Tel: 020 7525 0514 
 

 
Name No of 

copies 
Name No of 

copies 
Sub-Committee Members 
 
Councillor Jasmine Ali (Chair) 
Councillor Lisa Rajan (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Sunny Lambe 
Councillor James Okosun 
Councillor Sandra Rhule 
Councillor Charlie Smith 
Councillor Kath Whittam 
 
Education Representatives 
 
Martin Brecknell 
Lynette Murphy O’Dwyer 
Abdul Raheem Musa 
George Ogbonna 
 
Council Officers 
 
David Quirke-Thornton, Strategic Director of 
Children's & Adults Services 
Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny 
Sarah Feasey, Legal Services 
Eleanor Parkin, Policy Officer, Children's & 
Adults’ Services 
Rory Patterson, Director,  Children’s Social 
Care, Children's & Adults’ Services 
Barbara Hills, General Manager, Community 
Children’s Service, Evelina House 
 

 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
 
1 
1 
1 
 
1 
 
1 

 
Kerry Crichlow, Director Strategy & 
Commissioning, Children's & Adults’ 
Services 
Merrill Haeusler, Director of Education, 
Children's & Adults’ Services 
Yolanda Houston, Headteachers 
Executive Business Manager 
Chris Page, Principal Cabinet Assistant 
Aine Gallagher, Labour Political Assistant 
Niko Baar, Liberal Democrat Political 
Assistant 
Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Team SPARES 
 

 
1 
 
 
1 
 
1 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
10 
 

Electronic agendas (no hard copy) 
 
Reserves 
Councillor James Barber 
Councillor Catherine Dale 
Councillor Renata Hamvas 
Councillor Sara King 
Councillor Rebecca Lury 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

Total: 34 
 
Dated: December 2015 
 

 

 


	Agenda
	5 Interview of the independent chair of Southwark Safeguarding Children's Board, Annual Report & Serious Case Review
	Serious Case Review Report - Child R
	SSCB response to SCR

	6 Youth Service Budget
	 
	 DISTRIBUTIONLIST201516



